

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

# Strategies Used by Retail Store Managers to Engage Customers

Jefferson Lee Haddox *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jefferson L. Haddox

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Robert Banasik, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Scott Burrus, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Douglas Keevers, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Strategies Used by Retail Store Managers to Engage Customers

by

Jefferson L. Haddox

MBA, Tarleton State University, 2009

BBA, University of North Texas, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

#### Abstract

Between the years 2013 and 2016, e-commerce sales grew as a percent of total retail sales in the United States from 5.8% to 8.5%, an increase of \$129 billion. Some brick-andmortar (B & M) retailers struggle with maintaining the historic levels of revenue in their stores. A multiple case study design with retail store managers was used to understand what factors engage customers to shop at B & M store locations. The consumer-dominant value creation logic was the conceptual framework. Data were collected from semistructured interviews with 5 retail store managers in Texas who demonstrated successful strategies for engaging customers in their B & M stores, and notes from observations. Data from semistructured interviews were analyzed with a traditional method to identify themes. The found themes included fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to enhance the economic vitality and development in the surrounding community by creating additional jobs and generating additional income for members of the community that could be spent in local economies.

## Strategies Used by Retail Store Managers to Engage Customers

by

Jefferson L. Haddox

MBA, Tarleton State University, 2009

BBA, University of North Texas, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

#### Dedication

I dedicate this research to my family: Kim, my wife, and my two boys, Gavin and Grady. Kim, you have been extremely supportive as you have sacrificed our time together and allowed me focus on this study. Without your constant affirmation and support, I would not have been able to complete this study. Words cannot express my gratitude and love for you. Gavin and Grady, you have been more than understanding as I have spent countless hours in my office researching and writing. My entire family has been so encouraging and supportive during this endeavor; I could not have done this without you. To my family, I am forever grateful.

### Acknowledgments

I'd like to acknowledge my academic mentor, Dr. Robert Banasik, for his steadfast commitment to helping me succeed. He was always willing to make himself available to discuss the various elements involved in the process of bringing this study to life. He was always open and honest with his feedback even when I did not want to hear it. I am thankful for Dr. Banasik's mentorship throughout this entire process.

List of Tablesiv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement1
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study2
Research Question4
Interview Questions4
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations7
Delimitations7
Significance of the Study
Review of Literature
Consumer-Dominant Value Creation Logic9
History of Retail Innovation
In-Store Technology15
Omnichannel Retailing18
Consumer Behavior24

## Table of Contents

Store Associate	
Talent	31
Transition and Summary	
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	
Research Method	
Research Design	40
Population and Sampling	41
Ethical Research	42
Data Collection Instruments	44
Data Collection Technique	45
Data Organization Technique	47
Data Analysis	47
Reliability and Validity	48
Reliability	49
Validity	49
Transition and Summary	51
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	
Introduction	
Presentation of the Findings	

Strategy 1: Fun at Work54
Strategy 2: Customer Connection55
Strategy 3: Relationship56
Strategy 4: Pride57
Strategy 5: Genuine Care
Conceptual Framework: Consumer-Dominant Value Creation Logic59
Online vs. In-Store
Measurement of Strategies63
Findings Confirmed in Existing Literature64
Applications to Professional Practice
Implications for Social Change65
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Research
Reflections
Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Interview Protocol
Appendix B: Interview Questions for Retail Store Managers
Appendix C: Letter of Cooperation

## List of Tables

Table 1. Pu	blication Breakd	wn for Full Docum	ent and Literature	Review9
-------------	------------------	-------------------	--------------------	---------

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

As online shopping has become more prevalent, revenue in brick-and-mortar (B & M) store locations has started to decline. Due to this business issue, B & M retailers have begun to struggle with maintaining the historic levels of revenue in their B & M stores (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). B & M store managers must find ways to differentiate the in-store experience and engage customers to visit their B & M stores. In this doctoral study, I sought to understand what factors engage customers to shop at B & M store locations.

#### **Background of the Problem**

As of 2015, 77% of the United States population had access to the Internet (Ryan & Lewis, 2017). With the proliferation of connected devices, more consumers turned to an online channel to purchase merchandise; 8.5% of all retail sales were conducted online by the end of 2016 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). This phenomenon has led to a decline in revenue at B & M store locations. The decline in revenue at B & M store locations has left retail store managers with costly real estate investments that are declining in revenue (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). Despite this shift in some customers' shopping behavior, there are few studies that address the need for retail store managers to have strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

#### **Problem Statement**

The behavior of some retail consumers has shifted from traditional store shopping experiences to online shopping experiences due to the proliferation of e-commerce (Sanjeev, Sai Vijay, & Parsad, 2016). Between the years 2013 through 2016, e-commerce sales grew as a percent of total retail sales in the United States from 5.8% to 8.5%, an increase of \$129 billion (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). The general business problem of this study is that some B & M retailers have experienced declining in-store revenues. The specific business problem is that some B & M store managers do not have strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. The target population consisted of five B & M store managers from the state of Texas who have experienced increases in revenue in their B & M stores. This target population was appropriate for this study because some B & M store managers have experienced positive financial results by enhancing customers' in-store experiences (see Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). The implications for positive social change include the potential to enhance the economic vitality and development in the surrounding community by creating additional jobs and by generating additional money that could be spent in the local economy.

#### Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative research methodology for this study. Using the qualitative methodology enables researchers to gain an understanding of participants' experiences (Alase, 2017). This qualitative methodology is appropriate because it can allow the researcher to gain insights into the strategies that B & M store managers used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. Cairney and St. Denny (2015) indicated that the qualitative exploratory methodology is the most appropriate research design for studying

social phenomena that cannot be easily quantified. Since my study was about the B & M store experience, a quantitative methodology was not appropriate because such experiences cannot be reduced to statistical data. I chose not to use a mixed methods methodology to analyze trends relating to the revenue outcomes for each of the B & M stores because store level revenue data are not publicly available. I chose not to use a mixed methodology because I did not have access to this type of quantitative data to use in combination with the qualitative data generated in the interviews.

I used a qualitative multiple case study design to explore the B & M store experience. The designs I considered for this study included narrative research, phenomenological research, ethnographic research, and case study research. Using narrative research provides a life perspective from the participants' stories (Humphrey, 2014) but would not have been appropriate for this study because telling a story from past experiences may not be relevant. The purpose of this study was to gain the perception of the participants within their current B & M retail organizations. By using a phenomenological research design, researchers seek to provide a summary of the meanings of lived experiences of the participants (Gergen, Josselson, & Freeman, 2015). The personal meanings of past experiences would not have provided insights regarding the retailer's strategies that I was seeking to explore in this study and therefore a phenomenological research design would not have been relevant. An ethnographic research design helps researchers to focus on identifying self-defined beliefs and behaviors within a group (Edberg et al., 2015). Because I was not focused on identifying trends in specific cultures or societies and because participants vary across cultural

groups, an ethnographic research design was not appropriate for this study. A case study research design is used to identify patterns and build explanations from the collected information (Lewis, 2015). A single case study design can help researchers focus on a single case unit, whereas a multiple case study design will allow a researcher to evaluate multiple aspects (Lewis, 2015). I was focused on strategies that have helped B & M managers engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

#### **Research Question**

The following primary research question guided my study: What strategies do B & M store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores?

#### **Interview Questions**

- Please describe the strategies that you have used to engage customers to shop at your store.
- 2. How have you assessed the effectiveness of your strategies used to engage customers?
- 3. Which strategies did you find to be most successful?
- 4. How did your customers respond to the different strategies that you have utilized?
- 5. Please describe specific in-store experiences that your store provides that cannot be replicated in an online shopping channel.
- 6. Based upon your experiences and customers' feedback, what are the sensory experiences that create the best responses from your customers?
- 7. What else can you tell me about your successful customer engagement strategies?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study is based upon the consumer-dominant value creation logic (CDL) framework. Developed by Heinonen et al. (2010), the CDL helps researchers focus on the experiences of consumers and the perceived value they receive from an experience. The concept of value creation has been a core element of many marketing strategies (Gallarza, Gil-Saura, & Holbrook, 2011); the CDL framework further helps researchers focus on the concept of placing the customer at the center of the interaction rather than focusing on a product or service. The primary components of the CDL are business perspective, customer logic, offering, value formation, and customer ecosystem (Heinonen et al., 2010). Business perspective is about moving beyond the realm of marketing and considering all aspects of the business (Gallarza, Gil-Saura, & Holbrook, 2011). Customer logic is the concept of patterns that integrate activities, experiences and goals (Heinonen et al., 2010). Offering refers to the products, services, solutions, and promises offered by the retailer (Strandvik, Holmlund, & Edvardsson, 2012). Value formation is the process by which value emerges based on a customer's use and interaction (Heinonen et al., 2013). This value-in-use is based on the outcome of the product and experience created by the retailer (Heinonen et al., 2013). The customer ecosystem is the context in which the customer is making a decision; the customer ecosystem includes the retailer, other customers, and physical and virtual structures that are involved in the process (Medberg & Heinonen, 2014). The CDL focuses on the customer and the experiences that they have while shopping. Therefore, the use of CDL is an appropriate conceptual framework for reviewing the strategies that retail store

managers used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Throughout this study, I have used several terms that are commonly used in academic literature. These terms are helpful in understanding the background of the problem.

*Brick-and-mortar:* Retailers that have a physical store presence (de Leeuw, Minguela-Rata, Sabet, Boter, & Siguroardottir, 2016)

*Connected devices:* An electronic device, often portable, that has wireless connectivity to the internet (Wang, Malthouse, & Krishnamurthi, 2015).

*Customer experience:* The interaction between a retailer and the customer (Reimers & Chao, 2014).

*E-commerce:* The activity of buying or selling products or services through the internet (Ma, 2017).

*In-store experience:* The encounter that a customer has while shopping in a B & M store (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015).

*Omnichannel retailing:* The emphasis of omnichannel retailing is on the interplay between channels and brands (Beck & Rygl, 2015). An omnichannel strategy helps brands to optimize the customer experience and redesign channels and touch points from the customer perspective (Picot-Coupey, Hure, & Piveteau, 2016).

*Retail store managers:* The person responsible for the operations of a physical retail storefront; all employees working in the store report to the retail store manager (Kumar, 2018).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

Assumptions are those elements that are outside of my scope of control and that cannot be proved (Feller, Mealli, & Miratrix, 2017). For the purposes of my study, I have treated these assumptions as truth. The assumptions made in my study are grounded in general business practices. I have assumed the participants have a basic working knowledge of the sales organization in which they work. I assumed that the skills and training for retail store managers are similar from store to store, and that the expectations of each retail store manager are the same.

#### Limitations

Limitations are those elements that are outside of the scope of control of the researcher and have the potential to create weakness in a study (Argouslidis, Baltas, & Mavrommatis, 2014). One of the limitations in my study was the retail store manager talent. The skill level of the retail store manager is outside of the control of the researcher, but it could have an influence on their level of engagement with a customer.

#### Delimitations

Delimitations are those elements that define the boundaries and limit the scope of a study (Berdychevsky & Gibson, 2015). My study was limited to the scope of retail store managers in the North Texas geographical area. Because of this, my findings may be specific to B & M retailers in the North Texas area and not be transferrable to other regions.

#### Significance of the Study

This study may be significant because the findings might provide information that leads to improved strategies for retail store managers. B & M store managers are faced with the challenge of creating B & M experiences that are engaging. In my study, I have attempted to identify and understand what strategies retail store managers used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. As retail store managers create engaging in-store experiences, they have the potential to increase revenues for their B & M stores (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). The implications for positive social change include the potential to enhance the economic vitality and development in the surrounding community by creating additional jobs and generating additional income for members of the community that could be spent in local economies.

#### **Review of Literature**

I will begin the review of the literature with an overview of the CDL conceptual framework. I will then discuss the concepts found in the literature that pertain to the retail strategies that could have an impact on the customer's in-store experience. The key concepts include retail innovation, in-store technology, omnichannel retailing, consumer behavior, and the store associate. The literature review includes sources from journals, government data, and scholarly book publications. These sources were located using research databases such as Business Source Complete, Emerald Insight, and SAGE Premier. Keyword searches included the following terms: *customer experience*, *retail innovation*, *omnichannel*, *value cocreation*, *customer engagement*, *relationship marketing*, *customer ecosystem*, and *retail engagement strategies*. At least 85% of these

citations are peer reviewed and have been published within the last 5 years. Table 1 depicts the breakdown of the various citations used in my study, both in the full document and in the literature review.

Table 1

		Year			
		published	Percentage	Peer-	Percentage
	Total	(2014-	published	reviewed	peer-
	sources	2018)	2014-2018	sources	reviewed
Full document	139	124	89.2%	133	95.7%
Literature					
review	95	95	100.0%	95	100.0%

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. Several elements can affect customers' experience in B & M stores. The following paragraphs discuss the customer-dominant value creation logic and several other topics that pertain to customers' in-store experiences.

#### **Consumer-Dominant Value Creation Logic**

CDL was developed by Heinonen et al. (2010) and is a concept based on the idea that businesses should focus on customers rather than on products, services, or systems. Strandvik et al. (2012) stated that when businesses put the customer first, all other aspects of doing businesses fall into place. The CDL framework describes the customer at the center of all interactions (Finne & Gronroos, 2017). Heinonen et al. (2010, 2013) began to see a shift toward a customer focus compared to a service and interaction focus. This service and interaction focus was termed service-dominant logic (SDL) and has been a widely accepted strategy by many marketers (Vargo & Lusch, 2004, 2008). Vargo and Lusch (2016) further expanded on the concept of SDL by adding an ecosystem to the framework. As this framework continued to evolve and SDL broadened the scope of understanding marketing functions, SDL remained focused on service and integration with the customer (Heinonen et al., 2010). This continued focus on SDL led to the recognition of a gap in understanding of the holistic customer experience; that gap resulted in the creation of CDL (Anker, Sparks, Moutinho, & Gronroos, 2015). With the SDL framework in mind, Heinonen et al. (2010) developed the CDL to shift the focus from service to the customer. In the paragraphs to follow, I will show how others have further built upon the foundation of the CDL and discuss how it is applicable to this study.

Heinonen and Strandvik (2015) expanded on the concept of the CDL by offering five distinct foundational elements of CDL: (a) marketing as a business, (b) customer logics as a central element, (c) the customer's point of view, (d) formed value, and (e) the prevalence of the customer ecosystem (Medberg & Heinonen, 2014). Heinonen and Strandvik pointed out that the five elements of CDL raise the idea that retailers should consider the needs of the customer in every decision, whether in the boardroom or on the sales floor with the customer. Using CDL, researchers could begin to quantify the elements of a customer's goals, activities, and tasks that are at the forefront of their customer experience (Lipkin, 2016). As retailers work towards a customer-centric approach to business, they must find ways to listen to their customers.

Cheung and To (2015) further expanded on the CDL framework by adding that cocreation of value is a vital part of the how the customer realizes value in the experience; the value received by the customer is created by both the organization creating the experience and the customer interacting in the experience. Cheung and To (2016) defined this as the cocreation of service recovery and indicated that it should be used in conjunction with CDL as another way of keeping the customer at the center of an organization's decisions.

The foundational elements of the CDL were built on the consumption experience framework. Consumption experience is a framework for understanding that consumption of a good or service is more than just filling a need; it involves rich emotions, playful creativity, and leisure activities (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982). To better understand the components of consumption, the authors separated them into two segments: environmental inputs and consumer inputs (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982). The environmental inputs include product, communication content, and verbal and nonverbal stimuli (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982). Consumer inputs include customer resources, shopping tasks at hand, types of involvement, search activities, and an individual's characteristics (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982). Holbrook and Hirschman (1982) defined a framework that sought to measure the attributes of the consumption experience. They argued that consumer buying behavior can be explained from an information processing perspective, but that approach neglects the value of the consumption experience (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982). The consumption experience is rich with emotions, playful creativity, and leisure activities. Focusing on the consumption experience allows

researchers to understand how other attributes play into the purchase process such as multisensory enjoyment, the pursuit of pleasure, dimensions of communication, and the role of play in providing enjoyment and fun (Reimers & Chao, 2014). It is important to understand the consumption experience because it played a foundational role in the work that Heinonen et al. (2010) did to develop the CDL.

Since the customer experience framework's creation in 1982, several researchers have built upon the initial framework. Lanier and Rader (2015) suggested that this framework was limited to our understandings of the consumption experience as a function. They argued that the framework should be expanded to examine the consumption experience based on the dimensions of a structural relationship and the functional consequences (Lanier & Rader, 2015). To facilitate this, the authors identified four primary types of consumption: (a) performance, (b) liberatory experiences, (c) stochastic, and (d) adventure (Lanier & Rader, 2015). Lanier and Rader identified a new means of understanding consumption experiences that allows for a view of stochastic and adventure experiences but also provides a better understanding of the experiences relating to performance and liberator experiences.

Caru and Cova (2003) also expanded on Holbrook and Hirschman's (1982) initial framework. While Caru and Cova complemented Holbrook and Hirschman on some elements of their work to define the consumption experience framework, they indicated that the framework was ill-defined. To bring a deeper definition to the term *experience* as it relates to the consumer, Caru and Cova broke the consumption experience into four modes of provisions: (a) market, (b) state, (c) household, and (d) communal. Given those

further defined elements, the authors indicated that not all consumption experiences could be planned within a market; often, the experience just happens, and sometimes, brands are unable to create these types of experiences (Caru & Cova, 2003). Therefore, brands can break the monotony by creating extraordinary experiences that create something unexpected for the customer and stimulate the five senses (Caru & Cova, 2003). Holbrook (2006) revisited his original theory of consumption experience 14 years after its inception. He further concluded that three aspects of the consumption experience that bring value are fantasies, feelings, and fun, some of which can be measured, and some cannot (Holbrook, 2006). These components and the continued development of the CDL further reiterate the importance of putting the customer at the center of an experience.

The understanding of customers and their experiences in the retail environment has developed over the past 30 years (Pantano, 2014). The research and frameworks have moved beyond the limited view of product, service, or systems and have expanded into a customer-centric view. That customer-centric view was exposed with Holbrook and Hirschman's (1982) consumer experience framework and has developed into the rich framework of CDL (Heinonen et al., 2010).

#### **History of Retail Innovation**

Throughout the 19th century, the primary means of retail was the local general store; there was no focus on frills or experience, the retail stores within this era simply accommodated the basic needs of the local customer by selling a few staples such as milk, bread, and a few household goods (McArthur, Weaven, & Dant, 2016). In 1886, Sears & Roebuck Co. opened a catalog business that spawned innovation in retail (Sears,

2017). They began creating a catalog from which customers could purchase goods and have them delivered to their home (Sears, 2017). They offered merchandise including apparel, kitchen appliances, machinery, and manufactured homes (Sears, 2017). The goal of the retailer was to make quality goods available to the masses (Sears, 2017). It was not until the mid-1900s that the department store began to emerge (Mila, 2016). Within these department stores, the square footage was divided into various sections selling items that ranged from apparel to home appliances (Mila, 2016). Sears participated in the department store phenomenon by opening its first B & M store in Chicago in 1923 (Sears, 2017).

With the advent of the department stores in the mid-1900s, the concept of shopping malls began to emerge (Gomes & Fabio, 2017). Fueled by the affordability of the automobile and the shift into the suburban life, malls and shopping centers began to emerge in most major cities (Gomes & Fabio, 2017). These malls became destinations for consumers not only to purchase goods but also to socialize and enjoy entertainment. The first fully-enclosed and climate-controlled shopping mall was opened in 1956 in Minneapolis, Minnesota (Ingene, 2014). Building on that framework, value chains and club stores began to emerge in the 1970s, focused less on experience and more on selling commodity merchandise at low prices in a convenient one-stop location (Gomes & Fabio, 2017).

In the late 1990s, e-commerce businesses began to emerge. In 1994, the first ecommerce transaction was recorded: a Sting album via the computer (Lewis, 1994). The following year, both Amazon.com and eBay.com opened their virtual doors and began selling merchandise via the Internet (Lewis, 1994). Those businesses, as well as others, grew quickly by tapping into a marketplace that had almost no saturation. As the cost of creating e-commerce businesses had declined, almost every B & M retailer established an online presence; in addition to those B & M retailers, many new online-only retailers have emerged and started to take market share (Luo & Sun, 2016). The advancement of online retailing has created some challenges for B & M retailers; developing a strong shopping experience in B & M retail stores could help to combat the expansion of online only retailers.

This history points to the small amounts of innovation coming from the retail industry. Innovation in retail, which consists of new experiences for the customer, is one of the most critical elements for competing successfully (Pantano, 2014). While there have been moments of innovation, the basic elements of retail have not fundamentally changed. To help overcome the business problem that some B & M store managers have experienced by no not have strategies that engage customers to shop, B & M store managers will need evolve and innovate.

#### **In-Store Technology**

While the history of retail innovation shows that retailers are slow to bring enhancements into the B & M store, some B & M retailers are leveraging various types of in-store technology to aid in the shopping experience. Some of the technology is focused on self-service, allowing the customer to purchase goods without interacting with a human (Hristov & Reynolds, 2015). Other elements of in-store technology are focused on bringing the product to life for the customer by adding product information and videos or augmented reality (AR), virtually showing a product in an end-use setting (Javornik, 2016). In this section, I will discuss the literature written on the use of in-store technology.

Technology that enables value cocreation has been cited as some of the most useful in-store technology (Balaji & Roy, 2016). Value cocreation, as it relates to retail, is the idea that retailers are not the sole contributor of value; the customer takes an active role in creating the perceived value (Lal Dey, Pandit, Saren, Bhowmick, & Woodruffle-Burton, 2016). An example of technology that enables value cocreation could be a digital room designer that allows the customer to bring the product to life and understanding how the merchandise might look in their home before they purchase it. This type of digital in-store tool enables the customer to create value alongside the technology and the in-store associate. Balaji and Roy (2016) conducted research indicating that customers value cocreation influences their willingness to use in-store technology. As B & M retailers consider the use of technology in-store, they should consider hardware and software that enables customers to take control of the cocreation of value.

Self-service in the form of technology is another way for customers to cocreate value while in a B & M store. Some B & M retailers have started to add self-checkout, where the customer can scan their items and pay at a terminal without having to physically interact with a store associate (Leng & Wee, 2017). This form of self-service has allowed the customer to be part of the value cocreation process and has created enhanced customer satisfaction and heightened the intent to re-use the technology in the future (Turner & Shockley, 2014). While this form of value cocreation has been most

successful in B & M store settings that offer a convenience factor, there are potential implications for other use cases across various types of B & M retailers.

Another technology that retailers have started to use is AR. AR enables a consumer to bring a virtual product into the real world to visualize how a product might look in a physical space (Javornik, 2016). This technology allows the customer to integrate the virtual world into the real world (Chung, Han, & Joun, 2015). An example of this would be using AR to see how a piece of furniture might look in a consumer's living room before purchasing the product. While this technology remains in its infancy, retailers are starting to test use-cases and customer responses to AR (Pantano, Rese, & Baier, 2017). This technology has shown that it can enhance the customer's experience in a retail environment (Poushneh & Vasquez-Parraga, 2017). Pantano et al. (2017) found that consumers have shown a positive attitude towards the use of AR technology with the specific use-case of trying on sunglasses and eyeglasses before purchase. Their study further indicated that consumers would be willing to substitute these virtual goods for physical goods as they made their buying decisions (Pantano et al., 2017). This is a strong indicator for retailers offering a solution that allows the customer to virtually try on a product, that there is a potential of reducing in-store inventory and the cost associated with the ownership without sacrificing sales. As this technology matures, retailers will have to continue testing and measuring the impacts of AR.

One of the challenges that B & M retailers face when it comes to in-store technology is measuring the impact that the technology has on sales. Hristov and Reynolds (2015) considered measuring in-store technology in two separate ways: behavior related (nonfinancial) and outcome related (financial). Behavior related innovation is the means for growth or change; it is a component of an organization's strategy that leads to differentiation (Hristov & Reynolds, 2015). Outcome related innovation is more tangible and can be defined by generating a process or growing scalability. To gain an understanding of how technology impacts the outcomes of the customer, Kim, Lee, Mun, and Johnson (2017) used the technology acceptance model to aid in understanding the business impacts. In a quantitative study conducted at a fashion retailer, Kim et al. (2017) found that the impact of technology resulted in mixed evidence that the interaction with in-store technology altered the business outcomes.

In this section, I discussed the literature written regarding us the use of in-store technology to help overcome the business problem that some B & M store managers have experienced by no not have strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. Some B & M retailers are leveraging various types of in-store technology like customer self-service (Hristov & Reynolds, 2015) or videos and AR, (Javornik, 2016). While there are challenges with some of this technology, there were instances in the literature that indicated that some form of technology could be beneficial to engaging customers to shop at B & M stores.

#### **Omnichannel Retailing**

With the addition of e-commerce shopping channels and the proliferation of connected mobile devices, the way customers shop a retailer has changed (Kaczorowska-Spychalska, 2017). Omnichannel retailing provides the customer with a seamless experience across all touchpoints: in-store, online, through a catalog, and through a phone

call to the call center (Piotrowicz & Cuthbertson, 2014). This seamless experience can include pricing, promotions, merchandise, messaging, marketing, and fulfillment. This concept began to emerge post the multichannel era of retail; as e-commerce business began to emerge in the mid-1990s, those retailers with both an online and a B & M presence were known as multichannel retailers (Verhoef, Kannan, & Inman, 2015). Different from multichannel retailing, omnichannel retailing creates a synergistic shopping experience for the customer across every touchpoint offered by the retailer (Kaczorowska-Spychalska, 2017). As B & M retailers have learned, having a physical store base in conjunction with their e-commerce presence may allow the retailer to maximize their potential customer reach and subsequent sales (Herhausen, Binder, Schoegel, & Herrmann, 2015). An omnichannel retailing strategy has proven to generate higher levels of trust and loyalty with the customer; this higher level of trust and loyalty leads to increased conversion rates and greater opportunities to cross-sell other merchandise (Cao & Li, 2015). Omnichannel retailing could help to overcome the business problem that some B & M store managers have experienced by not having strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

Omnichannel retailing can offer several benefits to both the retailer and the customer. These benefits that I will discuss are (a) consistent message, (b) competitive advantage, (c) fulfillment methods, and (d) easy returns. Looking first at the retailer, an omnichannel retailing strategy offers a brand with a consistent message across all selling platforms (Cao & Li, 2015). Because a customer's experience comprises multiple contacts across multiple marketing media (often simultaneously), it becomes important

for the retailer to maintain a constant brand position and promotional message across all the various touchpoints (Kaczorowska-Spychalska, 2017). This consistency builds trust and loyalty with the customer and has the potential of generating higher revenue for the retailer (Cao & Li, 2015).

The second possible benefit that omnichannel retailing provides for the retailer is a competitive advantage. Herhausen et al. (2015) found that customers preferred to shop at a retailer that had an omnichannel solution over those retailers that do not offer an omnichannel solution. Customers often prefer omnichannel retail shopping experiences due to the availability of inventory (Herhausen et al., 2015). Many customers are unwilling to wait for a retailer to ship the goods to their home; omnichannel retailers offer immediacy in their assortment by providing the customer with product availability at a B & M store near their location (Parise, Guinan, & Kafka, 2016). The inverse can also occur; B & M retailers may not have the inventory in-store but can order the goods from their extended online assortment (Parise, Guinan, & Kafka, 2016). Because omnichannel strategies have started to reveal a B & M retailer's inventory to the customer, via their website, before going to the B & M store, retailers now have to rethink when and where they house product inventory (Saroukhanoff, 2017). This has benefited the customer by creating more accessibility to the product, but it has also created more supply chain challenges for the retailer.

From a customer's standpoint, omnichannel retailing allows the customer to choose their journey along the path to purchase, allowing the customer to choose how, when, and where to interact with the brand (Mahrous & Hassan, 2017). Omnichannel

retailing puts the customer at the center of the decision-making process; this customercentric focus provides the customer with many benefits, including enriched product information, enhanced fulfillment methods, and seamless returns (Bell, Gallino, & Moreno, 2014).

Before the onset of the Internet and e-commerce, consumers would seek out product information by visiting B & M stores (Rodriguez-Torrico, Cabezudo, & San-Marin, 2017). This effort to learn about product was timely for consumers as they visited multiple B & M stores and relied on store associates to be fully knowledgeable about the product they were selling. To help become more competitive, retailers must find ways to better inform their potential customers of the values and attributes associated with the products they are selling (Meise, Rudolph, Kenning, & Phillips, 2014). Omnichannel retailing has helped to bridge the product information gap for consumers, creating a beneficial outcome for the customer. B & M retailers could leverage an omnichannel strategy to aid the customer in the research phase of their path to purchase.

The third benefit that omnichannel retailing provides for the customer is a broader offering of fulfillment methods. Because omnichannel retailing allows the customer to access merchandise through many different delivery methods, the customer has the choice to pick the goods up in store or to have them delivered to their home. If the customer is in-store, they can buy the goods and take them home that same day, they can order the goods and have them delivered to the store for pickup, or they can order the goods and have them delivered to their home. If the customer is shopping via their personal computing device, they can choose to have the goods picked up in-store on the same day (assuming the store has inventory), they can have the goods shipped to the store, or they can have the goods delivered to their home. With omnichannel retailing, the fulfillment options for the customer become vast (Hubner, Wollenburg, & Holzapfel, 2016). The customer has additional fulfilment options with the emergence of omnichannel.

The fourth benefit that the customer receives from an omnichannel retailer is the ability to return merchandise via any delivery channel. Customers are changing their shopping behavior based upon the ease of returning their purchases (Bernon, Cullen, & Gorst, 2016). Options for returning a purchase in an omnichannel environment typically include returning to the B & M store or a designated drop area or inserting into a parcel or postal carrier network. These options create convenience for the customer, but it does create challenges for the retailer as they attempt to manage the inventory across their entire retail chain. These benefits, (a) consistent message, (b) competitive advantage, (c) fulfillment methods, and (d) easy returns, can aid in Omnichannel retailing; these benefits could help to overcome the business problem that some B & M store managers have experienced by no not have strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

While there are many benefits that come from an omnichannel retail strategy, executing an omnichannel strategy does come with challenges and increased complexities. As interactive media and mobile devices have evolved, selling to customers has become more complex (Medrano, Olarte-Pascual, Pelefrin-Borondo, & Sierra-Murillo, 2016). One of the challenges that retailers face within an omnichannel environment is product returns. One of the compelling elements for a customer to shop with an omnichannel retailer is the ability to purchase goods online and return to a B & M store (Beck & Rygl, 2015). While this is advantageous for the customer, it has the potential of creating unwanted inventory in the B & M store. Retail distribution systems were not originally built to facilitate this type of complex inventory management (Hubner, Holzapfel, et al., 2016). Some retailers operating within an omnichannel framework maintain separate warehouses as opposed to integrating their inventory across all touchpoints (Hubner et al., 2015). To elevate some of the pressure that these returns are putting on the B & M stores, retailers need to build more robust reverse logistics capabilities (Hubner, Wollenburg, et al., 2016). As retailers attempt to overcome this challenge, they will be burdened with the cost and complexity of revamping their internal logistics systems.

Capturing customer information and tracking customer behavior across the various retail touchpoints can also be a challenge for B & M retailers. In the retail environment, marketers use a system referred to as a Customer Relationship Management system. This system is the centralized location that houses all data associated with the customer. Within an omnichannel retailer, it becomes more complex to track a customer as they progress through and across the various touchpoints (Picot-Coupey et al., 2016). As a customer uses the in-store environment as a form of a showroom and returns to the online channel to make a purchase, tracking that behavior becomes difficult (Rapp, Baker, Bachrach, Ogilvie, & Beitelspacher, 2015). To combat this challenge, B & M retailers will need to find ways to engage with the customer while in the store; this

engagement could offer the customer with a reward or benefit for providing their information, and in exchange, the retailer would have visibility of the customer and could track their interaction through the various omnichannel touchpoints.

#### **Consumer Behavior**

With the continued proliferation of connected devices (Wang et al., 2015), more consumers are turning to e-commerce to conduct their retail purchases. At the end of 2015, 77% of the United States population had access to the Internet (Ryan & Lewis, 2017), and 8.5% of all retail sales were conducted online (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). Both of these trends are projected to continue to grow over the next 5 years. The Internet has created new shopping opportunities for consumers by providing both entertainment and utilitarian values (Xia, 2010). As customers turn to the online channel, they may have different goals ranging from browsing for recreation, to pre-shopping for a specific type of item, to having a planned purchase in mind (Raphaeli, Goldstein, & Fink, 2017). Mallapragada, Chandukala, and Liu (2016) defined two distinct stages in the online shopping process: browsing and purchasing. The browsing process is where the customer pre-shops and gathers information from the retailer's website; the purchasing stage is where the customer transacts, exchanging money for merchandise. In traditional B & M stores, associates would interact with the customer and gain an understanding of where they are in the shopping process. As the consumer behavior begins to shift towards online shopping (Wang et al., 2015), the retailer loses the ability to directly interact with the customer to ascertain where they are in the shopping process (Raphaeli et al., 2017). It is up to the retailer to interpret behavioral cues that may indicate where the customer is in

the purchase process.

Regardless of the specific intent of the shopper, having access to a retailer's online catalog has altered how the customer behaves and interacts with a retailer. There are several benefits that the customer receives from having the ability to shop online; those benefits include convenience, a broader assortment, and product reviews. In the following paragraphs, I will discuss those three benefits.

Convenience and ease of purchase have emerged as the primary factors that causes customers to purchase online versus in-store (Lai, Ulhas, & Lin, 2014). Understanding that convenience is important, Yadav and Pavlou (2014) indicated that online technology enables simplification, creates convenience, and enables efficiency in the shopping process. When a customer utilizes these online technologies, their time associated with buying consideration is reduced. This reduction in time is a result of being better informed regarding pricing, product availability, and choice of product. Bhagat (2015) conducted further research that is in line with Lai, Ulhas, and Lin's finding that indicated convenience as the primary factor that leads a customer to make an online purchase.

Another factor that has led to the consumer's shift in behavior towards purchasing online is the availability of a broader assortment. A traditional B & M retailer has limited space on their selling floor and limited space in their stock room; this constraint, from a real estate perspective, has led the retailer to only stock those items that have a high velocity of sales. In comparison, online retailers have few retail space constraints (Ma, 2016). Online retailers can employ drop-ship strategies that afford them the benefit of selling goods without owning the inventory (Li, Lu, & Talebian, 2015). Leveraging this strategy allows online retailers to grow their product offerings exponentially. This strategy of offering a radically broader product assortment online has created a shift in customer behavior towards shopping online and it has created increased revenue streams for those online retailers (Ma, 2016).

The availability of product information and product reviews is another factor that has led to the customer's shift towards online purchases. Product reviews have become an important part of the e-commerce ecosystem and are an important aspect of instilling trust in the customer (Tamimi & Sebastianelli, 2015). By making product reviews available to the customer, retailers have experienced a higher level of commitment from the customer and have experienced increased levels of customer satisfaction (Tamimi & Sebastianelli, 2015). Because product reviews are generated by the customer, they often convey a higher level of trust with the consumer than what the retailer might promote about the product. This strategy lends itself to the CDL because of the focus it has on providing the customer with the information they need to make a buying decision. These three benefits, convenience, a broader assortment, and product reviews, are several factors that have influenced the customer's desire to shop online.

In addition to identifying the influences that lead to customers purchasing online, there are several barriers that reduce the likelihood for customers to shop online (Bhagat, 2015); those barriers include transit times, delivery details, and returns and exchange information. When customers purchase merchandise from a B & M store, most often they can carry the merchandise home with them. There is an instant gratification associated with the purchase. When purchasing online, that instant gratification can be challenging due to the transit time associated with delivering the goods. If the retailer does not clearly state on their website when and how the merchandise will arrive, uncertainties can exist with the customer and cause them to fail to complete their purchase online (Modak, 2017). While delivery time has not been an indication in customer satisfaction, it does have a role in determining if the customer will purchase on the retailer's website (Ma, 2017). This is an important implication for retail managers, as they should consider displaying the anticipated delivery dates to the customer as far up in the purchase funnel as possible. This tactic has the potential of increasing the retailer's conversion performance metrics on their website.

In addition to transit times and delivery details, returns and exchange information can also create a barrier that reduces the likelihood for customers to shop online (Bhagat, 2015). As customers interact with retailers online, they need to have visibility to how the retailer will manage returns. Retailers often struggle with making the return and exchange process overtly visible to the customer due to the high cost and negative implications on profit that come from returns (Walsh, Albrecht, Kunz, & Hofacker, 2016). This lack of visibility creates uncertainty with the customer and reduces the propensity of their purchase. To help customers overcome this barrier, retail managers should consider providing clarity to the customer regarding the returns process and set the expectation early in the purchase process (de Leeuw et al., 2016). This information regarding transit times, delivery details, and return details has the potential to positively impact the retailer's business by providing guidance on the areas of focus for their website.

## **Store Associate**

An important aspect of the B & M store is the store associate (Braun, Hadwich, & Bruhn, 2017). With the growth in assortment and buying options, the customer has many retail options; the role of the store associate has evolved from simply facilitating a transaction to playing a more active role in the value cocreation process and experience that leads to a transaction. In this section, I will discuss the key elements of convenience, training, and relationship marketing; these three key elements can help bring an understanding to the role that the B & M store associate plays.

One of the primary roles of a retail store associate is to build the affirmation of perceived convenience (Gupta & Sharma, 2014). Gupta and Sharma identified six dimensions of convenience in the retail store environment: (a) search, (b) access, (c) selection, (d) assurance, (e) transaction, and (f) post-purchase. Of those six dimensions, assurance was noted as the most important element in the B & M store experience (Gupta & Sharma, 2014). A customer's interaction with a store associate is an important part of the buying process; this provides the customer with the reassurance they might need to help overcome fear and anxiety, helping to move the customer through the buying cycle faster. Reimers and Chao (2014) also studied the impacts of the customer's experience that lead to satisfaction; they found that convenience was the primary determinant for yielding a customer's satisfaction level. Not only is convenience an important part of the customer's shopping journey, convenience has become a catalyst for a satisfying shopping trip. This further reiterates the need for the retailer to create a convenient shopping experience and it is also a reminder that the level of convenience can be

influenced by the store associate.

Because store performance is closely connected to store associate training (Bao, Wei, & Chen, 2015), retail store managers may need to consider what types of training and investment they provide their store associates. Store associate training can cover a variety of topics, including the organization's policies and procedures, in-store technology and point-of-sale systems, and customer engagement (Silberman & Auerbach, 1998). Research has indicated that organizations that create standards and facilitate training that emphasizes customer engagement have experienced positive performance improvements by their store associates (Crowe & Bradshaw, 2016). These performance improvements help retail organizations in the short-term, but the training also plays a role in growing the leadership within the organization (Tan, Fu, & Yi, 2016).

Edeling and Pilz (2016) emphasized the need for associate training to focus on social competencies; while technical skills are important, there is a need for employees to focus their training efforts on developing social skills. The emphasis on social skills recommended by Edeling and Pilz plays an important role in the concept of value cocreation. Rasul (2018) indicated that customers consider participation and value cocreation to be key elements that create a stronger level of service quality. Further, Medberg and Heinonen (2014) emphasized the notion that a relationship exists over time; there is both a history and a future as it relates to the relational bond between a retailer and the consumer. For relationships to develop between the store associate and the customer, the store associate will need to possess the necessary social skills. By focusing on training that enhances store associates' social skills, B & M retailers have an

opportunity to leverage the future relational context and build upon that to further enhance their relationship with the customer.

Relationship marketing is another important aspect that the store associate helps bring to life in a B & M store (Rasul, 2018). This is where B & M can create a strong differentiation in the shopping experience when compared to e-commerce (France, Merrilees, & Miller, 2016). When shopping online, the customer has little involvement and interaction at a human level; there are some aspects, such as email, social proof, product reviews, and live chat, that help to bridge that relational gap, but there is no technology that fully replaces the emotional and human connection that an interaction with a human being creates. Because of this lack of replication in the digital world, relationship marketing and customer engagement continues to have strong ties to the physical store (Braun et al., 2017). Relationship marketing could be a viable solution for B & M retail store managers to help overcome the business problem that some B & M store managers have experienced by not having strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

One of the key elements associated with relationship marketing is the concept of value cocreation (Rasul, 2018). Customer participation is a key element in the process of relationship marketing (Amorim, Rosa, & Santos, 2014); without the customer's involvement, the notion of relationship marketing does not exist. When customers interact with a B & M store associate and generate an emotional bond, they begin to trust each other and work together, by way of value cocreation, to make a level of service that did not previously exist. This level of value cocreation and emotional bond cannot yet be

found in the online shopping arena. This relationship and corresponding outcome create value for the customer and ultimately leads to profits for the business (Kumar, 2018). It is important to note that there is one distinct challenge associated with relationship marketing: It is difficult to measure the effectiveness and the associated outcomes with relationship marketing (Amorim et al., 2014). To help overcome this challenge, B & M retailers could leverage a robust customer relationship management tool to measure the lifetime value of the customer. This measurement could help the retailer understand the impact that relationship marketing has on the business. Fully leveraging the competitive advantages that B & M store associates can offer is a strategy that can help B & M retailers differentiate themselves in the market place. Using this strategy could help to drive incremental value through convenience, a strong knowledge base, and a rich customer experience.

## Talent

Store associates who possess the appropriate skills to help create the experience for the customer provide an important element to consider. Staffing the team with the right talent could have an impact on the outcome of the customer's experience. It is more important to have the right talent in a B & M retail store than it is to simply have workers in the store (Damiani, Pompei, & Ricci, 2016). Having the right staff can be reduced to two primary elements: (a) hiring the right people, (b) paying reasonable wages, and (c) career advancement. The paragraphs to follow contain a discussion of each of these elements.

Hiring the right people to work in an organization is an important element to a

successful business (Showry & Manasa, 2016). Having the right talent in your organization can be helpful in generating a high-performing organization (Gotzsche-Astrup, 2018). As customers interact with B & M store associates, it is important that the customer have a quality interaction as that is the essence of the customer experience. If the store associate is ill-equipped or has a poor attitude, the store associate has the potential to negatively affect the customer's experience. Creating a negative customer experience can have long-term negative implications on the relationship between the customer and the brand (Amorim et al., 2014). The foundation of hiring the right people to facilitate the customer experience in a B & M retail store is a key component to creating a successful customer experience strategy for your customers (Showry & Manasa, 2016).

Understanding the concept of human interaction is also an important concept related to talent. Because B & M retail store associates work one-on-one with the customer, it is important to understand how the candidate interacts at a human level (Dobbs, 2016). When seeking to acquire talent, interviews and conversations should be conducted in-person so the interviewer can gain a sense of how a candidate might interact at a human level (Dobbs, 2016). Reed (2016) suggested that interviews should include some level of demonstration to allow the hiring manager to better understand how the candidate might present themselves in a given situation. To help further understand how a candidate might function in a larger setting, the hiring manager might consider conducting group interviews to help gain insight into how the candidate functions beyond the one-on-one setting and into a one-to-many setting (Reed, 2016). This approach of

group interviews may help the hiring manager to better understand how the candidate might operate in a collaborative work environment (Bussieres, Maiers, Grondin, & Brockhusen, 2017).

The second element relating to talent is the concept of paying reasonable wages. Cardiff-Hicks, Lafontaine, & Shaw (2015) found that higher wages attract higher qualified workers to the B & M retail sector. Damiani et al. (2016) further noted that performance-related pay leads to substantial growth in organizational efficiencies and enhancements. This concept that higher pay yields a better outcome in business is not a new concept in literature (Cardiff-Hicks, Lafontaine, & Shaw, 2015); intuitively, it makes complete sense: the more an organization pays, the higher their likelihood of attracting stronger candidates to their organization. Pertaining to the customer experience in a B & M retail store, attracting the right talent by paying an appropriate wage rage is an important consideration for aiding the in-store experience.

The third element in maintaining talent is the idea of creating career advancement for store associates. Career advancement is one of the most important elements for maintaining talent within an organization as it can be a powerful motivator for a store manager's staff (Schlechter & Bussin, 2015). Much research has been written regarding career advancement opportunities; in this section, I will focus on the following three elements that I found most prominent in the literature: clear goals, daily learning, and mentoring. In the following paragraphs, I will discuss each of these three concepts.

Creating clear goals and building an effective development plan for each store associate that aligns to the organization's needs is an important point of alignment for an employee and an employer (Hunt, Langowitz, Rollag, & Hebert-Maccaro, 2017). It is important for the store manager to understand the store associates' background, including education, work history, and professional accomplishments (Ragan, 2018). This type of information creates a guide for the store manager to build upon. Once this guide has been created, the store manager, alongside the store associate, can begin to look forward to what the store associate would like to accomplish in their career. This would include an attempt to understand where the store associate's goals might intersect with the organization's goals. Assuming the store associate's goals intersect with the organization's goals, the store manager can work to identify a clear area of developmental focus for the associate. This is when the greatest amount of satisfaction occurs for both the store associate and the store manager (Hunt, Langowitz, Rollag, & Hebert-Maccaro, 2017).

Daily learning is also an important component to helping create career advancement opportunities for store associates (Jovcheska, 2017). Daily learning is the idea of looking for learning opportunities everywhere; in every interaction, every situation, and every conversation. A good example of this would be a store manager asking a series of questions of a store associate following an interaction with a customer; these questions might include: what did you learn from that interaction, how can those learnings be applied to your current role, and how could you enhance the customer experience for the next customer with whom you interact? The goal of these types of questions would be to enable near real-time learning and development for the store associate. Being able to grow, adapt, and learn are important characteristics for store associates to create career advancement opportunities (Pascadi & Scarlat, 2016). This type of steady feedback and adaptation could help the store associate to get marginally better and create a better customer experiences with each customer interaction. Daily learning could allow the store associate to grow more quickly in their skill set and therefore, create more potential career advancement opportunities (Jovcheska, 2017).

The third and final aspect relating to career advancement opportunities for store associates is the idea of mentoring. Mentoring is the notion of having a more tenured individual, known as a mentor, provide guidance to a less tenured individual, known as a mentee. The mentor becomes a role model, sharing their knowledge, experience, skills, and expertise with the mentee (Boeren et al., 2015). This is done to invest in and help grow the mentee for future career advancement opportunities, and to also help create long-term benefit for the organization (Dyrberg & Michelsen, 2017). For the store associate, the mentee, there are several beneficial elements. Being paired with a mentor could allow the store associate to see varying types of skills and abilities, allowing them to learn and grow in ways that they might not have considered. This also has the potential to create a sense of renewal and enthusiasm with the store associate; by having another individual come alongside them, the store associate may feel more important and more invested in the organization (Boswell, Stark, Wilson, & Onwuegbuzie, 2017). As the mentee matures, this process becomes replicable for the organization, providing a steady stream of mentors that are available to help grow and encourage store associates along their career journey. In addition to the benefits for the mentee, there are benefits for the mentor as well. By working in the mentor capacity, that individual may gain additional

management skills, listening skills, problem-solving skills, and communication skills (Boeren et al., 2015). Growth in these types of skills is mutually beneficial for the mentee and for the mentor as this could help both individuals with potential career advancement. In addition to benefits for the mentee and the mentor, organizations could also receive benefit from this type of partnership. The benefits may include a higher level of productivity from the workforce, a reduction in employee turnover, and a stronger and larger pool of potential future managers for organizations (Boswell et al., 2017). A well-developed mentoring program has the potential to help with career advancement opportunities for store associates, as well as help organizations create a more sustainable business model.

Considering the CDL framework, the concept of talent and skilled labor ties directly into cocreation of value. Without the right level of store associate talent to fuel the in-store experience, the store associate cannot generate high levels of participation with the customer. A strong customer experience is generated when participation and cocreation are key elements in the exchange between the store associate and the customer (Rasul, 2018). Having strong talent, which is comprised of hiring the right talent, paying reasonable wages, and career advancement opportunity, is an essential element of creating a strong engagement strategy within a B & M retail environment.

#### **Transition and Summary**

As online shopping continues to grow (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017), customers have fewer reasons to shop in a traditional B & M store location. This customer behavior has led to a decline in revenue at B & M store locations. To help overcome this phenomenon, retail store managers should consider strategies that engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. There are several elements discussed in the literature review that could have an impact on the customer's experience within a B & M shopping environment. Value cocreation is a theme that emerged in several places within the literature; it can be seen within CDL, in-store technology, relationship marketing, consumer behavior, the store associate, and talent. Within the literature review, I found that value cocreation has a direct relationship to the strategies that retail store managers could use to engage customers to shop in their B & M stores.

Section 1 of this study included the defined research problem, purpose of my research, and a review of the academic literature. In Section 2, I will discuss the research methodology, design, and sampling strategy. I will discuss how I captured the data, how I maintained high levels of ethics in my research, and how I analyzed the data points. In Section 3, I will present my research findings, applications for professional practice, recommendations for action, and implications for social change.

# Section 2: The Project

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. The target population consisted of five retail store managers from the state of Texas who have experienced increases in revenue in their B & M stores. This sample was appropriate for this study because some B & M retailers have experienced positive financial results by enhancing customers' in-store experiences (see Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). The implications for positive social change could include the potential to enhance the economic vitality and development in the surrounding community by creating additional jobs and by generating additional money that could be spent in the local economy.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

My role as the researcher was to prepare the interview questions, conduct the interviews, and record the data in an accurate manner (see Fusch & Ness, 2015). I used a qualitative multiple case study design; this approach allowed me to use interviews to gain experiential information from the participants. I leveraged my existing network as a method of recruitment to gain access to the participants; this was similar to the approach used by Rothausen, Henderson, Arnold, and Malshe (2017). Regarding the defining of boundaries between practice and research, I found that there were no conflicts with how I collected data from the retail store managers. None of the participants were my subordinates, nor did they report through my chain of command. Participation from the retail store managers was voluntary and the participants had the option to opt out at any

point during the study process. To further protect the participants, I excluded their names and the company name in the publication of this study. To mitigate bias, I used an interview protocol described by Van de Wiel (2017) to help maintain constancy and structure between the interviews. The interview protocol can be found in Appendix A. I also used member checking to help mitigate bias. Member checking is the process of validating the data collected during the interview by the participants (Koelsch, 2013). Cope (2014) used a similar method of member checking to help mitigate research bias. Following each interview, I asked the participant to review the captured themes for accuracy.

#### **Participants**

The participants for this study were retail store managers who worked for Company A in the state of Texas and who have demonstrated successful strategies for engaging customers to shop at their B & M stores. I gained access to these participants through my professional network (see Hoyland, Hollund, & Olsen, 2015). I contacted the participants via phone to establish a working relationship and introduce the participants to the study. I did not have previous contact with these participants through Company A. This was a similar approach used by Pract (2014). This approach allowed me to maintain the accepted practices of research, which include remaining unbiased, being aware of preconceptions, discussing the interpretation of the data with others, and confirming my interpretations with the participants as described by Mercer et al. (2017).

# **Research Method**

A qualitative research methodology was used for this study. Qualitative

methodology is used to gain an understanding of experiences (Alase, 2017). This qualitative methodology was appropriate because it allowed me to gain insight into the experiences that customers prefer while shopping at B & M locations. Cairney and St. Denny (2015) indicated that the qualitative methodology is most appropriate for studying social phenomena that cannot be easily quantified. Using the qualitative methodology, I explored the various experiences that customers were offered in B & M stores (see Fusch & Ness, 2015). Since my study was about the B & M store experience, a quantitative methodology was not appropriate because such experiences cannot be reduced to statistical data (see Hussein, 2015). I did not use a mixed methods design to analyze trends relating to the revenue outcomes for each of the B & M stores. Using a mixed methods design would have allowed me to understand correlations in customer behavior and the revenue impacts they have for the B & M store (see Lewis, 2015). However, store level revenue data was not publicly available, so I did not have access to this type of quantitative data to include alongside the qualitative data generated in the retail store manager interviews.

#### **Research Design**

I used a multiple case study design for this research. The designs I considered for this study were narrative research, phenomenological research, ethnographic research, and case study research. Narrative research provides a life perspective from the participants (Humphrey, 2014) but would not have be appropriate for this study because telling a story from past experiences may not be relevant. The purpose of this study was to explore the perception of the participants within their current retail organization. Phenomenological research provides a summary of the conscious lived experiences of the participants (Gergen et al., 2015). Past experiences would not have provided insights regarding the retailer's strategies that I was seeking in this study and therefore were not relevant. Ethnographic research focuses on identifying self-defined beliefs and behaviors within a group (Edberg et al., 2015). Because my study was not focused on identifying trends in specific cultures or societies and, because participants vary across cultural groups, an ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study. A case study research design is used to identify patterns and build explanations from the collected information (Lewis, 2015). A single case study focuses on a single issue, whereas a multiple case study looks at multiple cases to understand the differences and similarities between them (Lewis, 2015). I was researching strategies that have helped retail store managers engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. The most appropriate research design for my study was a multiple case study design. To achieve data saturation, I needed at least five interviews (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2015). I was able to achieve data saturation with the five interviews. If I had been unable to reach data saturation, I would have continued to conduct interviews until data saturation occurred. Once I reached the point in my interviews where the data collected became redundant and offer no new information, I knew I had achieved data saturation (see Palinkas, Horwitz, & Green, 2015).

## **Population and Sampling**

The retail store managers from Company A in the state of Texas was the population I used for this study. Purposeful sampling was used for this study. Purposeful

sampling is a nonprobability sampling method and can be used when a researcher is focused on a particular set of characteristics within a sample (Palinkas et al., 2015). Purposeful sampling can be helpful when conducting interviews (Abdulai & Shafiwu, 2014). Using purposeful sampling allowed me to focus on the specific characteristics of the retail store managers. Retail store managers from different store formats with varying volume at Company A were represented to gain different viewpoints from the different types of stores; this allowed me to gain broad viewpoints from each store type (see Karimi Moonaghi, Ranjbar, Heydari, & Scurlock-Evans, 2015). In addition to the criteria of varying volume, I also selected those retail store managers who are actively using a customer engagement strategy. The interviews took place at the retail store manager's office; this approach allowed me to create the least amount of distraction for the business.

Data saturation is important as it is an indicator of the accuracy of the data (Palinkas et al., 2015). To achieve data saturation in a multiple case study design, I needed at least five interviews (see Malterud et al., 2015). I was able to achieve data saturation with the five interviews. If I had been unable to reach data saturation, I would have continued to conduct interviews until data saturation occurred. Once I reached the point in my interviews where no new information was being gathered, I knew I had achieved data saturation (see Palinkas et al., 2015).

## **Ethical Research**

Maintaining the highest standards of ethics in my research was my top priority. To focus on the highest quality of research, I avoided the primary moral pitfalls of research, as described by Honig, Lampel, Siegel, and Drnevich (2014), of research misconduct, plagiarism, and falsification (Honig et al., 2014). To help maintain these moral principles, I adhered to research protocols that included

- Participants must consent to the interview.
- Participants have the right to discontinue at any point in the research process. Once the participant has expressed their desire to withdraw from the study, I will eliminate the data collected from the participant.
- Participant's identity and any identifying information will remain confidential; all personal data collected during the interview process will remain confidential.
- All collected data will be saved under username and password for 5 years.

I used consenting adults as participants in the data collection process. This was a similar approach used by Resnik (2015). At any point in the process, the participants could have discontinued their participation in the study; this could have been accomplished through an email or a phone call from the participant, or verbally during the interview. This was the same participant discontinuation approach used by Kaye et al. (2015). The participants did not receive any form of incentive before or after the interviews in exchange for their participants were aware of the study, and I plan to share the findings of the study with each participant; this was a similar approached used by Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Khoshnava Fomani, and Ali Cheraghi (2014). I provided each participant with a copy of the consent form before the interview so that they understood their rights and the confidentiality of the agreement. In order to maintain participant

confidentially, I recorded the data by using a participant number rather than their name. The participant name and corresponding participant number was maintained in a singular reference document. All data collected will be stored in a secure location for 5 years. The IRB approval number for this study is 08-27-18-0701525 and expires on August 26, 2019.

## **Data Collection Instruments**

I collected data by using a multiple case study research design by conducting semistructured interviews. Truman, Mason, and Venter (2017) used semistructured interviews to determine a model for retail experiential learning. Similarly, Chapman and Sadd (2014) used semistructured interviews to gain an understanding of how scheduled events in shopping centers can impact foot traffic and sales performance. Cridland, Caputi, Jones, and Magee (2015) suggested that semistructured interviews were a beneficial data collection method when attempting to understand the dynamics of a situation. Therefore, I used semistructured interviews to explore strategies that retail store managers have used to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

In addition to semistructured interviews, I used observational notes to enrich the collected data. This is similar to the method used by Cope (2014). My observational notes contained additional information, such as the participant's body language or my reflection of the interaction with the participant. According to Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018), observational notes can help researchers remember important details that occurred during their interviews.

I was the primary investigator. According to Lewis (2015), qualitative researchers

are the primary investigators in semistructured interviews. Similar to the study conducted by Karimi Moonaghi et al. (2015), these interviews consisted of open-ended questions that allowed me to capture information from the participants and then code their thoughts into common themes. Appendix A contains the interview protocol and Appendix B contains the interview questions. After conducting the interviews, I then conducted a thematic analysis of the data and calculated the frequencies of the themes to determine the most important factors (Hampton, Rabagliati, Sorace, & Fletcher-Watson, 2017).

In addition to conducting the interviews, I used member checking and observational notes to provide data triangulation. I provided a summary of each interview to the participant following the interviews for member checking. Member checking is the process of validating the data collected during the interview by the participants (Koelsch, 2013). This review of the collected data during member checking ensures the researcher has captured an accurate representation of participants' responses (Cope, 2014; Morse, 2015). My observational notes contained additional information such as the participant's body language or my reflection of the interaction with the participant. According to Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018), observational notes can help researchers remember important details that occurred during their interviews.

#### **Data Collection Technique**

I collected data by interviewing retail store managers. I used an audio recorder to record the interviews and conversations and utilized the data from these interviews as part of the data collection process; this was a standard process for collecting data through an interview (see Miller, 2016). I conducted the interviews in-person rather than via a

phone call, similar to the structure used by Karimi Moonaghi et al. (2015), to help me better assess the participants' body language. The interview questions were designed to help me answer the research question in my study: What strategies do retail store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores? The interviews were semistructured open-ended questions, allowing me to collect data while attempting to understand the dynamics of the situation (see Cridland et al., 2015). I adhered to the interview protocol outlined in Appendix A and used follow-up questions when necessary for clarity (see Van de Wiel, 2017). The interview protocol allowed me to maintain consistency across the various interviews by following a described workflow; this workflow included an introduction and definition of the project, a list of detailed questions to ask the participant, a wrap-up statement, and a reminder to schedule a follow-up with the participant for member checking.

Similar to the validation process used by Morse (2015), I used member checking to ensure I had appropriately captured the themes in my interviews. I also maintained observational notes to help provide any additional insights from my study as they helped me remember important details that occurred during the interviews; this was a similar technique described by Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018). These observational notes were also part of my data organization technique.

Data collection by interview can offer both advantages and disadvantages to the researcher. One of the primary advantages of using interviews for data collection is the concept of invoking reality (Alshenqeeti, 2014). Invoking reality is a way to get the participant to respond to the interview questions in the form of telling a story. This story

telling allows the researcher to have a better understanding of the exact experience of the participant. The primary disadvantage to data collection by interview is the fact that it is time-consuming due to the back-and-forth dialog (Alshenqeeti, 2014). This type of research involves is a significant amount of time investment from both the researcher and the participant.

#### **Data Organization Technique**

I recorded the interviews via an audio recorder (see Miller, 2016). I then transcribed the recordings into a Word document. Both the audio recordings and the transcribed documents have been saved and backed up on Dropbox for redundancy; Bernauer (2015) noted that this was a common process for data organization. During the interviews, I took notes that described my observations. I then analyzed the transcripts, using a thematic analysis process, identifying common themes and calculating the frequencies in which those themes occur; this was similar to a process used by Hampton et al. (2017). This thematic analysis was noted and calculated in an Excel workbook. The Excel workbook has also been saved and backed up on Dropbox for redundancy. Each of these files will be saved for 5 years.

## **Data Analysis**

I analyzed the transcribed interviews for common themes in the participants' responses (see Percy, Kostere, & Kostere, 2015). I used a thematic analysis technique to group and code the responses into themes (see Hampton et al., 2017). After coding the data in Excel, I removed unrelated data and evaluated the information using a traditional data analysis method as described by Moustakas (1994). The traditional data analysis

method includes reviewing the information with an unbiased approach; using phenomenological reduction, which includes creating themes and descriptions; and imaginative variation, which will be used to deduce the elements of the experiences (see Moustakas, 1994). I then created descriptions from my interpretation of the data and presented the findings in Section 3 of this study. In addition to using the thematic analysis, I also utilized my observational notes to ensure I have captured all relevant data as described by Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018). I also utilized member checking (see Koelsch, 2013); I provided each participant with a themed synopsis of our interview and asked them to validate the accuracy of how I captured their responses. In addition to the data analysis method described above, I also augmented the data with my observational notes that included any observations that I may have noted during the interviews. This was a similar approach that Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018) used in their study. The use of observational notes, as well as member checking, are methods I employed to provide data triangulation.

As I identified the themes from the data, I used the primary components of the CDL framework as a lens by which to interpret the data and as a data organization function. The primary components of CDL that I used for data organization are business perspective, customer logic, offering, value formation, and customer ecosystem (Heinonen et al., 2010).

## **Reliability and Validity**

Reliability and validity are of the utmost importance to my study. To obtain reliability, I focused on data dependability and triangulation. To obtain validity in my

study, I utilized the concepts of transferability and confirmability. In the sections to follow, I will discuss how I achieved reliability and validity in my study.

# Reliability

I sought to maintain reliability through dependability. Morse (2015) stated that reliability could be achieved through dependability and triangulation. Because the company used in my study, Company A, is a large retailer and has many business objectives that change with the needs of the customer, the findings of my study should maintain dependability over time. Because my interview questions are not focused on a specific company initiative, the findings should be dependable. To test the dependability of my study, I would need to replicate the interviews in a similar setting (see Cope, 2014). To accomplish this, I maintained detailed notes and a description of the study so that it can be replicated and tested for dependability (see Phillippi & Lauderdale, 2018). I also utilized member checking as a means of creating dependability. Member checking is the process of validating the data collected during the interview by the participants (Koelsch, 2013). This review of the collected data helped to ensure the researcher has captured an accurate representation of participants' responses (see Morse, 2015).

# Validity

Validity and credibility of research are based on the principle that the findings are plausible (Gordon & Patterson, 2013). Because I am using interview data in my study, the participants helped to determine the credibility. To help maintain validity and credibility, I asked the participants to provide their opinion of their level of credibility associated with their point of view; according to Cope (2014), this type of interaction with the interview participants can help improve credibility. As I collect data, I looked for the reoccurrence of actions or behaviors across the data to help maintain credibility in my study; this was similar to a process used by Fusch and Ness (2015) to help maintain credibility in their study. As described by Alshenqeeti (2014), interviews were among the most commonly used in qualitative research. I used interviews as my method for collecting data because of the common use this method amongst these types of studies that collect behavioral data.

To help ensure that transferability exists within my study, I maintained detailed notes and documentation relating to my interviews; this was a similar practice used by Morse (2015). The limitation in transferability in my study was geography; because my research was conducted in one state within the United States, transferability of my study could be limited outside of the state of Texas.

Confirmability is the level of objectivity associated with my study (see Morse, 2015). It is important that I, as the researcher and data collection tool, remain self-critical in all aspects of the research (see Elo et al., 2014). Because I am employed by Company A, I took several precautions to ensure validity. First, I had not previously met any study participants; there was no personal bias with the person I was interviewing. Second, I adhered to data analysis process previously outlined in this section because using this standard has led to validity in previous studies (see Cope, 2014).

Data saturation also helped to ensure validity in my study (see Palinkas et al., 2015). I needed at least five interviews to achieve data saturation (see Malterud et al., 2015). I achieved data saturation in my study as I reach the point where no new

information was being gathered (see Palinkas et al., 2015). If I had not reached data saturation after the initial five interviews, I would have continued to conduct interviews until I had reached data saturation.

# **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2, I defined the design of the study and the research method. I further defined the participants and the sampling tactics that I utilized. I provided details about data collection, techniques, and analysis. I also discussed how I ensured credibility, dependability, and transferability for my study. In Section 3, I will discuss the findings of my research and the implications for business and social change.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

# Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. I collected data using semistructured interviews and purposeful sampling. The interviews were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed using Moustaka's (1994) thematic analysis method. The primary themes I identified are as follows: fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

This exploratory multiple case study consisted of five retail store managers from North Texas at Company A. The five participants agreed to the study by signing the interview consent form. I collected data using semistructured interviews and an audio recorder to capture the conversations. The overarching research question for this study was: What strategies do B & M store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores? I transcribed the interviews and organized the responses in Excel. A summary of the interviews was provided to the participants for member checking. I then analyzed the data and listed the emerging themes from each of the questions. Using a thematic analysis process, I outlined the factors that indicated a contribution to successful customer engagement strategies for shopping at B & M stores.

Multiple steps were included in the thematic analysis. I first coded the data using Moustaka's (1994) thematic analysis method; that process includes identifying and recording the relevant themes in the data, removing the unrelated data, and grouping the themes into categories. Using those categories, I created descriptions that identified the themes in those categories and noted the frequency with which they occurred in the data set.

The following are the steps I used in the thematic analysis: (a) listing and grouping themes, (b) removing unrelated data, (c) grouping and combining similar themes, and (d) creating theme descriptions. The experiences described by the participants were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed using Excel and the thematic analysis process. I also used my observational notes and member checking to ensure data triangulation and reliability, a similar process to the one used by Morse (2015). My observational notes consisted of approximately one hour of customer and associate observation with the store environments following each interview. In these notes, I captured behavioral observations that confirmed the themes that I heard in the store manager interviews. The use of observational notes, in conjunction with member checking, are methods I employed to provide data triangulation. This was a similar approach that Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018) used in their study.

The primary themes I identified were fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care. The themes that I identified in my study were significant factors that contributed to successful customer engagement strategies for Company A. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores.

As I approached this study, I expected that I would hear the concepts of tools and training to be fundamental to the in-store customer experience. For tools, I had expected

to hear ideas about the use of technology in-store or tablets to aid in the experience. This could have been tools that allowed the store associates to see more environmental and end-use photography or how-to videos. I was expecting to hear that store associates needed more digital content delivered via tools to help bring the customer experience to life. For training, I had expected to hear ideas about course material and week-long training classes. To my surprise, those were not the main themes. The themes I heard were more focused on engagement between the store associate and the customer. Those themes were centered around the concepts of fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care. While I was surprised to see these themes emerge, they each aligned with the framework of the CDL; each of these themes placed the customer at the center of each interaction. In the paragraphs to follow, I will describe each of the themes as well as discuss how these themes align with the CDL.

#### **Strategy 1: Fun at Work**

The most prominent strategy that emerged in my research was the idea of fun at work. Many of the store managers attributed their successful customer engagement strategies to the root idea of their store associates first having fun. Having fun at work was a component of the individual store culture and is something that was established at the manager level and this then cascaded down throughout the remaining members of the organization. Of the five store managers interviewed, four of them indicated that this was the primary strategy driving a successful customer experience in-store. Participant 1 stated that "having fun is what I have been most successful with in terms of customer experience." This idea of fun at work manifested itself by playing upbeat music, dancing in the store, laughing at the various situations, and finding a way to remain happy and pleasant even though the team was doing laborious work. Participant 4 stated that "if my store associates are having fun, they have a higher rate of interaction with the customer and that interaction is more pleasant for the customer and results in higher levels of sales productivity." As I observed the store associates and their interaction with the customers, I could see they were both having fun; because the store associates were happy and cheerful, the customers gravitated towards them and would adopt a similar attitude of happiness and cheerfulness. In my observational notes, I indicated that shopping was not a chore or a task for customers at these stores, but it was a time where they had fun and enjoyed the level of attention they were given by the store associates.

#### **Strategy 2: Customer Connection**

Another strategy that emerged was connection with the customer. Participant 3 described this as "using nonselling conversation to connect with the customer." Rather than having that store associate go straight to selling a product, the store associate will attempt to connect with the customer by learning about a project they might be working on at home or understand what might have brought them into the store that day. From there, the store associate will build on that connection and tie the selling aspect into the conversation. This approach helps to create a higher level of comfort with the customer, allowing them to become more engaged with the store associate. Participant 4 stated that they "get personal information from the customer by looking at pictures of projects their working on; it's spending true, honest time with the customer." Creating a more personal

connection with the customer leads to a better and richer conversation that allows the two participants to more quickly find ways help the customer fulfill their needs.

An example of this that emerged from the semistructured interviews was a description from Participant 5 of a conversation between a customer and a store associate. In this description, a customer entered the store and was greeted by a store associate. Rather than the store associate telling the customer about the promotions that were happening that day, the store associate greeted the customer and began asking the customer what brought them into the store. Through that exchange, the store associate discovered that the customer was shopping for their son as he was preparing to go to college for his freshman year. The store associate was able to relate by sharing the time their son went to college. This connection with the customer seemed to help the customer relax and become more receptive to the help that the store associate was providing. This type of personal connection with the customer led to a rich conversation, which allowed the store associate to find ways to help the customer and to fulfill their needs.

#### **Strategy 3: Relationship**

The strategy of building trust and relationships with the customer emerged from my research as well. This concept builds on connection and conversation with the customer by maintaining that level of engagement over a prolonged period of time. Participant 4 shared several stories of customers coming in with their spouses just to meet one of the store associates with whom they had a relationship. The bond between the customer and store associate fosters a deep level of trust that enriches the customer experience, both in the present and in the future. This level of relationship is built by having a store associate spend time with the customer. It is not a bond that is formed in a single encounter; it takes time to develop and mature.

In my time of observation at Participant 4's store, I saw this first-hand. A customer entered the store with a small dog in her arms; she had just been next door at the dog groomer. The customer stopped in Participant 4's store so the store associate that helped the customer last week while shopping could meet the customer's dog. This customer knew the associate's name and interacted with her as if they were good friends. After an 8-minute conversation between the customer and the store associate, the customer left the store, not having purchased anything in that visit. After the customer left, I asked the store associate about the customer; the store associate indicated that the customer is one of the "regular customers" that frequent their store. The store associate further added that they had also met the customer's spouse in the past few weeks as well. This is the type of behavior that indicates a strong relational bond between the store associate and the customer; this is the type of relationship that cannot be created in one visit to the store but over a prolonged period. This type of relationship takes work on the store associate's part and is developed and matured over a longer period.

# **Strategy 4: Pride**

Participant 2 described pride as drawling a parallel to their store as their home: The analogy that I use is when you shop at my store, it's like you come into my house. If these customers were guests in your house, how would you treat them? Using this approach helps to create pride for our associates; they make it personal. The level of hospitality and pride that the store associates take in their personal life spill over into the store they manage. Fostering pride can be difficult. Participant 4 described the method used for building pride in their store associates:

To create pride in our associates, we involve them in the 'why'; it's not just about telling them what to do, it's about bringing them along on the journey of why we're doing it. Providing them with a deeper understanding of why creates buy-in and fosters pride for the associate.

The sense of pride that these store managers and store associates had seemed to help elevate the customer's experience in-store.

In my observational notes, I saw this element of pride emerge as well. On several occasions across the various participants, I observed the store associates using their downtime between customers to tidy the store. Without having specific direction from the store managers to clean and straighten the store sales floor, the store associates seemed to have enough pride to take that upon themselves. They would pick up small pieces of trash from the floor or fixtures and they would straighten the shelves to ensure the product presentation was as neat as could be. This was another point of validation that the store associates took pride in how their store looked and understood that they have an impact on the customer's experience.

# **Strategy 5: Genuine Care**

The final strategy that emerged from the collected data was the concept of genuine care. Participant 2 said, "it's not just a job for us; we actually care about our customers. When we have an interaction with our customer, we are genuinely listening

and care about what they have to say." This concept ties into a few of the other strategies previously discussed; mainly, customer connection and relationship. Because the store associate cares about the customer, this leads to a deeper connection and relationship with the customer. Participant 5 said, "we interact with the customer because we care about the customer; we genuinely want to make a difference in their life." The concept of genuine care seemed to help more quickly cultivate a strong relationship between the customer and the store associate.

Similar trends emerged from my observational notes as well; on multiple occasions, I observed the store associates spending time listening to customers and then responding to their needs. In one particular observation, I saw the store associate not only listening to the customer but responding to the customer with follow-up questions to obtain more details of the customer's needs. This idea of active listening and proactive response to the customer is an indicator that the store associate genuinely cares about the need that the customer is there to fulfill.

# **Conceptual Framework: Consumer-Dominant Value Creation Logic**

The conceptual framework I used in this study was CDL; it is a concept based on the idea that businesses should focus on customers rather than on products, services, or systems (Heinonen et al., 2010). Strandvik et al. (2012) stated that when businesses put the customer first, all other aspects of doing businesses fall into place. The CDL framework describes the customer at the center of all interactions (Finne & Gronroos, 2017). Each of the identified themes from the data I collected point directly back to the CDL; all of the themes are centered around an interaction with the customer. After having conducted the study, it is clear that the CDL was an appropriate framework for my study. Prior to collecting the data, I assumed that these store associates were going to fail to put the customer at the center of the transaction; I assumed that they would be relying on tools, technology, or training. To my surprise, these store associates were putting the customer first, placing them at the center of the interaction rather than relying on tools or technology. The strategies identified were focused on engagement between the store associate and the customer. While I was surprised to see these five strategies emerge, they each aligned with the CDL framework as they placed the customer at the center of each interaction.

### **Online vs. In-Store**

Question 5 in my interview questions was specifically designed to understand what type of in-store customer experiences could not be replicated in a digital or online space. I assumed that I would hear responses about the tangibility of the product; in an online environment, the customer cannot touch, feel, or smell the product. While I did hear those types of responses, there were a few themes that emerged that are worthy of discussion. In the following paragraphs, I will discuss the themes of real-time feedback, instant gratification, and conversation.

First, real-time feedback stood out as a differentiator between online and in-store engagement. In the online channel, an editorial or a video on a website can show a customer how to create a floral arrangement for a customer. In that online engagement, the website has no understanding of how the customer is responding or reacting to the presentation of the floral arrangement. In an in-store environment, the associate can receive real-time feedback from the customer, allowing the store associate to alter components of the presentation to meet the customer's specific needs. In the example of the floral arrangement, the associate could receive feedback from the customer regarding one of the colors in the arrangement; with that real-time feedback, the store associate could make a change to the presentation and get more feedback from the customer. This level of real-time feedback is difficult to generate online.

The second differentiator that stood out between online and in-store engagement was the theme of instant gratification. In the online space, many retailers offer a form of expedited shipping. Amazon.com, for example, offers same-day delivery on many items (Ma, 2017). Even with expedited shipping options, the customer will have to wait for the product to arrive when ordering from an online channel. In-store purchases, however, do offer instant gratification. When you buy a product in-store, in most cases, you have the option of taking the product home with you that day. In-store purchasing offers a differentiator from the online channel in that it offers instant gratification for the customer.

The final theme that differentiates B & M stores from the online channel is conversation. Some retail websites offer the ability for a customer to use a chat function, allowing them to engage with an associate in the customer service group. While this does offer a means for the customer to communicate with an individual, it can be slow and create challenges in the levels of communication. An in-store experience is differentiated from online by offering a humanize level of communication. It's often easier to communicate a customer's need via a verbal form of communication rather than the written word, and the in-person response is real-time as opposed to the delay that often exists with the online chat functionality. Additional, in-person communication allows for the comprehension of verbal queues; those verbal queues are not represented in an online chat function. These three themes, real-time feedback, instant gratification, and conversation emerged from the data I collected as clear differentiators between in-store and online.

While these three themes of real-time feedback, instant gratification, and conversation emerged as differentiators for shopping in a B & M store, there are several benefits that customers receive from having the option to shop online; those benefits include convenience, a broader assortment, and product reviews. Convenience has been noted as the primary factor for customers choosing to shop online rather than in-store (Bhagat, 2015). It is often faster for the customer to buy a product online than it is to travel to the physical store to make a purchase (Lai, Ulhas, & Lin, 2014). Another benefit to shopping online compared to a B & M retail store is assortment size. A B & M retailer has limited space and this constraint often means that retailers only stock items that have a high velocity of sales. Online retailers, in comparison, online retailers have few retail space constraints and can offer a broader assortment (Ma, 2016). The final benefit to shopping online compared to a B & M retail store is product reviews. Online retailers that make product reviews available to their customers often experience a higher level of commitment, which leads to a purchase (Tamimi & Sebastianelli, 2015).

In this section, I have discussed the differentiators between online shopping and shopping in-store. The themes that emerged as differentiators for those customers while shopping in-store were real-time feedback, instant gratification, and conversation. The themes that emerged as differentiators for those customers while shopping online were convenience, a broader assortment, and product reviews. To help bridge the gap between the experiences, online retailers should consider attempting to bring those in-store differentiators to life online and B & M retailers should consider attempting to bring those instore those online differentiators to life in-store.

### **Measurement of Strategies**

Two dominate concepts emerged that related to measuring the various strategies used by the retail store managers; one directly tied to the sales performance in a quantitative fashion and another qualitative view based on customer behavior and feedback. Each retail store manager used each of these types of measurements in isolation while some used them in conjunction with one another. Looking first at sales performance, this type of measurement is more easily accessible and quantifiable based upon exceeding a forecast or exceeding last year's performance. Participant 5 was only looking at sales performance to measure the effectiveness of their customer engagement strategies; it was assumed to be an effective strategy if the store exceeded their sales forecast. However, it wasn't directly correlated to the customer experience strategy as it could have been influenced by other factors such as promotions and product availability. For this reason, a more qualitative approach to measurement could prove to be a more accurate representation of effectiveness.

Participants 1 and 3 were using a more qualitative approach to measurement by using various types of customer feedback to measure their strategies. Some of the retail store managers were using a more formal process of soliciting customer feedback, primarily through the use of post-purchase surveys. In this method, customers could provide their feedback on specific elements of their experience while shopping in store. There were also the open-ended text forms that allowed the customer to provide more details that the customer wasn't able to provide via the structured questions. In addition to the structured surveys, some of the retail store managers used less scientific means for collecting customer feedback for measurement. In some instances, the retail store managers would simply ask customers for feedback regarding their experience as they were leaving the store. In many instances, the feedback provided by the customers was not solicited from the store managers; the customer was so happy with the experiences, they felt the need to seek out the managers and share the details of their experiences.

#### **Findings Confirmed in Existing Literature**

An enhanced customer experience has led some B & M retailers to experience positive financial results (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). Some B & M retail store managers have not embraced the customer first mentality. Strandvik, et al. (2012) indicated that businesses that put the customer first often experience positive financial results. The participants in this study indicated the importance that customer experience plays in the potential transaction that the customer is attempting to conduct as well as the future business that the customer might conduct with the retailer. Another important element identified in the literature related to customer experience is relationship marketing; Rasul (2018) indicated that store associates help bring the shopping experience to life. Relationship marketing and customer experience can create a strong differentiation in the B & M shopping experience (France et al., 2016). The findings in this study are confirmed by the existing literature relating to customer experience.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

There were multiple themes identified in this study that could play a role in enhancing the customer experience while shopping in a B & M store. Understanding and leveraging these concepts that assist the retail store manager could have positive implications to the professional practice of B & M retail. The themes identified in this study are fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care; all of these factors could be concepts that a retail store manager uses in their customer engagement strategies. This study adds to the existing body of work relating to customer engagement strategies and provides the B & M retail profession with additional resources to further drive sales. In addition to adding to the existing literature, there were new themes discovered that were not readily found in the existing literature including the ideas of customer connection, pride, and genuine care.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The results of this study have the potential to create positive social change for B & M retail organization managers who are seeking new strategies to enhance the customer experience in their stores. By creating an enhanced customer engagement strategy, B & M retailers could see increases in customer purchases and subsequently, revenue. Additionally, an enhanced customer engagement strategy could lead to higher customer retention rates and a higher customer lifetime value as the retail store manager builds a deeper relationship with the customer; an increase in lifetime customer value

translates to more revenue for the B & M retailer. The implications for positive social change include the potential to enhance the economic vitality and development in the surrounding community by creating additional jobs, and by generating additional money that could be spent in the local economy.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

There are several factors that have the potential to assist B & M retail store managers in building a customer engagement strategy. Based upon the findings in this study, I recommend that B & M retail store managers consider the use of these identified strategies to develop and enhance their customer engagement strategies. Creating and implementing customer engagement strategies can have positive impacts on the business (Sachdeva & Goel, 2015). Outlined in this study are 5 customer engagement strategies that retail store managers at Company A have used successfully; the recommendation is for B & M retail store managers to experiment and test 1 or more of these identified strategies with their customers to find out which, if any, resonate and create an enhanced customer experience. Many different types of B & M retailers should leverage these findings. These recommendations will be shared directly with Company A but will also be shared at several retail conferences in the future.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

There was little research written about the customer experience within B & M retail stores. There is a need for more research to be conducted on this topic; the need for more research includes other geographic areas and other companies. I recommend that further research be conducted from the customer's point of view rather than the point of

view of the retailer. Additional research from the customer's point of view in combination with the point of view of the retailer could help to add additional insights into the most effective customer engagement strategies. Replicating this study at a future point in time may yield different results as customer engagement strategies change over time.

One of the limitations noted in this study was retail store manager talent. The skill level of the retail store manager was outside of the control of the researcher, but it could have an influence on their level of engagement with a customer. Additional research could be conducted that is specific to the various levels of talent within a B & M retail store to understand how that might impact the customer engagement strategies.

### Reflections

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that retail store managers use to engage customers to shop at their B & M stores. There were 5 store managers interviewed in the North Texas area. The data was collected via in-person semistructured interviews. The participants were willing to freely share their experience and opinions, and most of them were eager for me to share the results of my study with them.

Through the review of the literature and the completion of the interviews, I understood the types of successful strategies that B & M retailers could use to create and enhance customer engagement. It was interesting to learn that the themes I thought I would hear in their interviews were not the main themes. The themes I heard were more focused on engagement and connection between the store associate and the customer. While the participants were comfortable sharing their customer engagement strategies with me, I felt as though the retailer didn't understand the value and competitive advantage that these strategies could bring to their business. This exercise helped to broaden my perspective and validate the need and the purpose of conducting research.

# Conclusion

Customer experience is an important part of a B & M retail experience. As customers have many options from different retailers to fulfill their shopping needs, creating an engaging customer experience is a means to a differentiated shopping experience. This differentiated customer experience could be what sets the retailer apart from their competition. In an ever-competitive landscape, customer experience has become an important component for B & M retailers. In this study, I identified and discussed a few factors that could lead to a differentiated customer experience. Those identified strategies are fun at work, customer connection, relationship, pride, and genuine care. When used appropriately by B & M retail store managers, these strategies have the potential to created deeper customer relationships and increased revenues.

### References

- Abdulai, I. A., & Shafiwu, A. B. (2014). Participatory decision making and employee productivity. A case study of community banks in the upper east region of Ghana. *Business and Economics Journal*, 5(3), 1–10. doi:10.4172/2151-6219.100099
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9–19. doi:10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, *3*, 39–45. doi:10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Amorim, M., Rosa, M. J., & Santos, S. (2014). Managing customer participation and customer interactions in service delivery: The case of museums and educational services. *Organizacija*, 47(3), 166–176. doi:10.2478/orga-2014-0015
- Anker, T. B., Sparks, L., Moutinho, L., & Gronroos, C. (2015). Consumer dominant value creation. *European Journal of Marketing*, 49(3-4), 532–560.
  doi:10.1108/EJM-09-2013-0518
- Argouslidis, P., Baltas, G., & Mavrommatis, A. (2014). Outcomes of decision speed. *European Journal of Marketing*, 48, 982–1008. doi:10.1108/ejm-10.2012-0573
- Balaji, M. S., & Roy, S. K. (2016). Value co-creation with internet of things technology in the retail industry. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 33, 7–31. doi:10.1080/0267257X.2016.1217914
- Bao, C., Wei, N., & Chen, S. (2015). Elevating the quality of staffs at jewelry boutique stores: Implementing chinkless-teaching concept of course training and planning.

International Journal of Organizational Innovation, 8, 186–205. Retrieved from http://ijoi.fp.expressacademic.org/

- Beck, N., & Rygl, D. (2015). Categorization of multiple channel retailing in multi-, cross-, and omni-channel retailing for retailers and retailing. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 27, 170–178. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.08.001
- Bell, D. R., Gallino, S., & Moreno, A. (2014). How to win in an omnichannel world. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 56, 45–53. Retrieved from http://web.mit.edu/smr
- Berdychevsky, L., & Gibson, H. (2015). Women's sexual sensation seeking and risk taking in leisure travel. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 47, 621–646. doi:10.18666/jlr-2015-v47-i5-5446
- Bernauer, J. A. (2015). Opening the ears that science closed: Transforming qualitative data using oral coding. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 406–415. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/index.html
- Bernon, M., Cullen, J., & Gorst, J. (2016). Online retail returns management: Integration within an omni-channel distribution context. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 46, 584–605. doi:10.1108/IJPDLM-01-2015-0010
- Bhagat, S. M. (2015). Factors influencing purchase and non-purchase behaviour in online shopping. *Anvesha*, 8, 34–43. Retrieved from http://www.ies.edu/
- Boeren, E., Lokhtina-Antoniou, I., Sakurai, Y., Herman, C., & McAlpine, L. (2015).
   Mentoring: A review of early career researcher studies. *Frontline Learning Research*, *3*, 68–80. Retrieved from https://journals.sfu.ca/flr/index.php/journal

Boswell, J., Stark, M. D., Wilson, A. D., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2017). The impact of dual roles in mentoring relationships: A mixed research study. *Journal of Counselor Preparation & Supervision*, 9, 336–359. doi:10.7729/92.1175

Braun, C., Hadwich, K., & Bruhn, M. (2017). How do different types of customer engagement affect important relationship marketing outcomes? An empirical analysis. *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, *16*(2), 111–144. doi:10.1362/147539217X14909732699525

- Bussieres, A. E., Maiers, M., Grondin, D., & Brockhusen, S. (2017). Selecting and training opinion leaders and best practice collaborators: Experience from the Canadian chiropractic guideline initiative. *Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 61, 53–64. Retrieved from http://www.jcca-online.org
- Cairney, P., & St. Denny, E. (2015). Reviews of what is qualitative research and what is qualitative interviewing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory and Practice*, 18, 117–125. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Cao, L., & Li, L. (2015). The impact of cross-channel integration on retailers' sales growth. *Journal of Retailing*, *91*, 198–216. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2014.12.005
- Cardiff-Hicks, B., Lafontaine, F., & Shaw, K. (2015). Do large modern retailers pay premium wages? *ILR Review*, 68, 633–665. doi:10.1177/0019793915570877
- Caru, A., & Cova, B. (2003). Revisiting consumption experience: A more humble but complete view of the concept. *Marketing Theory*, *3*, 267–286. doi:10.1177/14705931030032004

- Chapman, L., & Sadd, D. (2014). Events as strategic marketing tools in shopping centers. *Event Management*, 18, 357–367. doi:10.3727/152599514X13989500765925
- Cheung, F. Y. M., & To, W. M. (2015). Do task- and relation-oriented customers cocreate a better quality of service?: An empirical study of customer-dominant logic. *Management Decision*, 53, 179–197. doi:10.1108/MD-05-2014-0252
- Cheung, F. Y. M., & To, W. M. (2016). A customer-dominant logic on service recovery and customer satisfaction. *Management Decision*, 54, 2524–2543. doi:10.1108/MD-03-2016-0165
- Chung, N., Han, H., & Joun, Y. (2015). Tourists' intention to visit a destination: The role of augmented reality (AR) application for a heritage site. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 50, 588–599. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.068
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Issues in using methodological triangulation in research. *Nurse Researcher*, *16*, 40–55. doi:10.7748/nr2009.07.16.4.40.c7160
- Cridland, E. K., Caputi, P., Jones, S. C., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 40, 78–91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Crowe, K., & Bradshaw, A. K. (2016). Taking a page from retail: Secret shopping for academic libraries. *Evidence Based Library & Information Practice*, 11, 40–56. doi:10.18438/B85S6H

Damiani, M., Pompei, F., & Ricci, A. (2016). Performance related pay, productivity and wages in Italy: A quantile regression approach. *International Journal of Manpower*, 37, 344–371. doi:10.1108/IJM-12-2014-0265

de Leeuw, S., Minguela-Rata, B., Sabet, E., Boter, J., & Siguroardottir, R. (2016). Tradeoffs in managing commercial consumer returns for online apparel retail. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 36, 710–731.
doi:10.1108/IJOPM-01-2015-0010

- Dobbs, K. (2016). Face-to-face: Still the best way to hire. *Veterinary Team Brief*, 4(7), 44–48. Retrieved from http://www.veterinaryteambrief.com
- Dyrberg, N. R., & Michelsen, C. (2017). Mentoring first year study groups—benefits from mentors' perspective. *European Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 5, 43–54. Retrieved from http://scimath.net/
- Edberg, M., Cleary, S., Simmons, L. B., Chubilla-Batista, I., Andrade, E. L., & Gudger,
  G. (2015). Defining the "community": Applying ethnographic methods for a
  Latino immigrant health intervention. *Human Organization*, 74, 27–41. Retrieved
  from http://sfaajounrals.net/loi/humo
- Edeling, S., & Pilz, M. (2016). Teaching self- and social competencies in the retail sector:
  Findings from vocational schools in Germany, Italy and Poland. *Education* + *Training*, 58, 1041–1059. doi:10.1108/ET-07-2015-0060
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utiainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open*, *4*, 1–10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633

- Feller, A., Mealli, F., & Miratrix, L. (2017). Principal score methods: Assumptions, extensions, and practical considerations. *Journal of Educational & Behavior Statistics*, 42, 726–758. doi:10.3102/1076998617719726
- Finne, A., & Gronroos, C. (2017). Communication-in-use: customer-integrated marketing communication. *European Journal of Marketing*, 51, 445–463. doi:10.1108/EJM-08-2015-0553
- France, C., Merrilees, B., & Miller, D. (2016). An integrated model of customer-brand engagement: Drivers and consequences. *Journal of Brand Management*, 23(2), 119–136. doi:10.1057/bm.2016.4
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/index.html
- Gallarza, M. G., Gil-Saura, I., & Holbrook, M. B. (2011). The value of value: Further excursions on the meaning and role of customer value. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 10(4), 179–191. doi:10.1177/2051570713505471
- Gergen, J., Josselson, R., & Freeman, M. (2015). The promises of qualitative inquiry. *American Psychologist*, 70, 1–9. doi:10.1037/a0038597
- Gomes, R. M., & Fabio, P. (2017). Shopping mall image: Systematic review of 40 years of research. *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research*, 27, 1–27. doi:10.1080/09593969.2016.1210018

- Gordon, J., & Patterson, J. (2013). Response to Tracy's under the "big tent": Establishing universal criteria for evaluating qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 19, 689– 695. doi:10.1177/1077800413500934
- Gotzsche-Astrup, O. (2018). The bright and dark side of talent at work: A study of the personalities of talent-development-program participants. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 70, 167-181. doi:10.1037/t03371-000
- Gupta, S., & Sharma, D. (2014). Dimensions of retail service convenience in emerging market settings - a qualitative investigation. *Journal of Services Research*, 14, 99– 122. Retrieved from http://www.jsr-iimt.in/vo14no1.htm
- Hampton, S., Rabagliati, H., Sorace, A., & Fletcher-Watson, S. (2017). Autism and bilingualism: A qualitative interview study of parents' perspectives and experiences. *Journal of Speech, Language & Hearing Research*, 60, 435–446. doi:10.1044/2016\_JSLHR-L-15-0348
- Heinonen, K., & Strandvik, T. (2015). Customer-dominant logic: foundations and implications. *The Journal of Services Marketing*, 29, 472–484. doi:10.1108/JSM-02-2015-0096
- Heinonen, K., Strandvik, T., Mickelsson, K. J., Edvardsson, B., Sundstrom, E., & Andersson, P. (2010). A customer-dominant logic of service. *Journal of Service Management*, 21, 531–548. doi:1108/09564231011066088
- Heinonen, K., Strandvik, T., Mickelsson, K. J., Edvardsson, B., Sundstrom, E., &
  Andersson, P. (2013). Customer dominant value formation in service. *European Business Review*, 25(2), 104–123. doi:10.1108/09555341311302639

- Herhausen, D., Binder, J., Schoegel, M., & Herrmann, A. (2015). Integrating bricks with clicks: Retailer-level and channel-level outcomes of online–offline channel integration. *Journal of Retailing*, 91, 309–325. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2014.12.009
- Holbrook, M. B. (2006). Consumption experience, customer value, and subjective personal introspection: An illustrative photographic essay. *Journal of Business Research*, 59, 714–725. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.01.008
- Holbrook, M. B., & Hirschman, E. C. (1982). The experiential aspects of consumption:
  Consumer fantasies, feelings, and fun. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 9(2), 132–140. Retrieved form http://www.jstor.org/stable/2489122
- Honig, B., Lampel, J., Siegel, D., & Drnevich, P. (2014). Ethics in the production of dissemination of management research: Institutional failure or individual fallibility? *Journal of Management Studies*, *51*, 118–142. doi:10.1111/joms.12056
- Hoyland, S., Hollund, J. G., & Olsen, O. E. (2015). Gaining access to a research site and participants in medical and nursing research: A synthesis of accounts. *Medical Education*, 49, 224–232. doi:10.1111/medu.12622
- Hristov, L., & Reynolds, J. (2015). Perceptions and practices of innovation in retailing. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 43, 126–147.
  doi:10.1108/IJRDM-09-2012-0079
- Hubner, A., Holzapfel, A., & Kuhn, H. (2015). Operations management in multi-channel retailing: An exploratory study. *Operations Management Research*, 8(3/4), 84–100. doi:10.1007/s12063-015-0101-9

- Hubner, A., Holzapfel, A., & Kuhn, H. (2016). Distribution systems in omni-channel retailing. *Business Research*, *9*, 255–296. doi:10.1007/s40685-016-0034-7
- Hubner, A., Wollenburg, J., & Holzapfel, A. (2016). Retail logistics in the transition from multi-channel to omni-channel. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 46, 562–583. doi:10.1108/IJPDLM-08-2015-0179
- Humphrey, C. (2014). Qualitative research-mixed emotions. *Qualitative Research in* Accounting & Management, 11, 51–70. doi:10.1108/QRAM-03-2014-0024
- Hunt, J., Langowitz, N., Rollag, K., & Hebert-Maccaro, K. (2017). Helping students make progress in their careers: An attribute analysis of effective vs ineffective student development. *International Journal of Management Education*, 15, 397– 408. doi:10.1016/j.ijme.2017.03.017
- Hussein, A. (2015). The use of triangulation in social sciences research: Can qualitative and quantitative methods be combined? *Journal of Comparative Social Work*, *4*, 1–12. Retrieved from journal.uia.no/index.php/JCSW
- Ingene, C. A. (2014). Retail evolution: Historical facts, theoretical logic and critical thinking. *Journal of Historical Research in Marketing*, 6, 279–299. doi:10.1108/JHRM-12-2013-0067
- Javornik, A. (2016). Augmented reality: Research agenda for studying the impact of its media characteristics on consumer behavior. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 30, 252–261. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.02.004

- Jovcheska, S. (2017). Strategic approach to permanent education and professional development in an international scale. *Vizione*, 27, 329–338. Retrieved from http://www.visionsmagazine.org
- Kaczorowska-Spychalska, D. (2017). Consumer perspective of omnichannel commerce. Management, 21(2), 95–14. doi:10.1515/manment-2017-0007
- Karimi Moonaghi, H., Ranjbar, H., Heydari, A., & Scurlock-Evans, L. (2015). Truck drivers' experiences and perspectives regarding factors influencing traffic accidents: A qualitative study. *Workplace Health & Safety*, 63(8), 342–349. doi:10.1177/2165079915576934
- Kaye, J., Whitley, E. A., Lund, D., Morrison, M., Teare, H., & Melham, K. (2015). European Journal of Human Genetics, 23, 141–146. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2014.71
- Kim, H. Y., Lee, J. Y., Mun, J. M., & Johnson, K. K. P. (2017). Consumer adoption of smart in-store technology: Assessing the predictive value of attitude versus beliefs in the technology acceptance model. *International Journal of Fashion Design*, *Technology & Education*, 10, 26–36. doi:10.1080/17543266.2016.1177737
- Koelsch, L. E. (2013). Reconceptualizing the member check interview. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 12, 168–179. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/ijqm/index
- Kumar, V. (2018). A theory of customer valuation: Concepts, metrics, strategy, and implementation. *Journal of Marketing*, 82, 1–19. doi:10.1509/jm.17.0208

- Lai, J., Ulhas, K., & Lin, J. (2014). Assessing and managing e-commerce service convenience. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 16, 273–289. doi:10.1007/s10796-012-9344-2
- Lal Dey, B., Pandit, A., Saren, M., Bhowmick, S., & Woodruffle-Burton, H. (2016). Cocreation of value at the bottom of the pyramid: Analysing Bangladeshi farmers' use of mobile telephony. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 29, 40–48. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.10.009
- Lanier, C. D., & Rader, C. S. (2015). Consumption experience: An expanded view. *Marketing Theory*, *15*, 487–508. doi:10.1177/1470593115581721
- Leng, H. K., & Wee, N. L. (2017). An examination of users and non-users of selfcheckout counters. *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research*, 27, 94–108. doi:10.1080/09593969.2016.1221842
- Lewis, P. H. (1994, August 12). Attention shoppers: Internet is open. *New York Times*, p. 1. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 16, 473–475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Li, Z. E., Lu, Q., & Talebian, M. (2015). Online versus bricks-and-mortar retailing: a comparison of price, assortment and delivery time. *International Journal of Production Research*, 53, 3823–3835. doi:10.1080/00207543.2014.973074
- Lipkin, M. (2016). Customer experience formation in today's service landscape. *Journal* of Service Management, 27, 678–703. doi:10.1108/JOSM-06-2015-0180

- Luo, L., & Sun, J. (2016). New product design under channel acceptance: Brick-andmortar, online-exclusive, or brick-and-click. *Production & Operations Management*, 25, 2014–2034. doi:10.1111/poms.12587
- Ma, J. (2016). Does greater online assortment pay? An empirical study using matched online and catalog shoppers. *Journal of Retailing*, 93(3), 373–382.
  doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2016.05.004
- Ma, S. (2017). Fast or free shipping options in online and Omni-channel retail? The mediating role of uncertainty on satisfaction and purchase intentions. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 28, 1099–1122. doi:10.1108/IJLM-05-2016-0130
- Mahrous, A. A., & Hassan, S. S. (2017). Achieving superior customer experience: An investigation of multichannel choices in the travel and tourism industry of an emerging market. *Journal of Travel Research*, 56, 1049–1064. doi:10.1177/0047287516677166
- Mallapragada, G., Chandukala, S. R., & Liu, Q. (2016). Exploring the effects of "what" (product) and "where" (website) characteristics on online shopping behavior. *Journal of Marketing*, 80(2), 21–38. doi:10.1509/jm.15.0138
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2015). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753–1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- McArthur, E., Weaven, S., & Dant, R. (2016). The evolution of retailing. *Journal of Macromarketing*, *36*, 272–286. doi:10.1177/0276146715602529

Medberg, G., & Heinonen, K. (2014). Invisible value formation: A netnography in retail banking. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *32*, 590–607. doi:10.1108/IJBM-03-2014-0041

Medrano, N., Olarte-Pascual, C., Pelefrin-Borondo, J., & Sierra-Murillo, Y. (2016).
Consumer behavior in shopping streets: The importance of the salesperson's professional personal attention. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 125–139. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00125

Meise, J. N., Rudolph, T., Kenning, P., & Phillips, D. M. (2014). Feed them facts: Value perceptions and consumer use of sustainability-related product information. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 21, 510–519.
doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2014.03.013

Mercer, S., Glatz, M., Glettler, C., Lammerer, A., Mairitsch, A., Puntschuh, S., ... Turker, S. (2017). Moving between worlds: Teaching-based PhD identities from an ecological perspective. *Journal of Adult Learning, Knowledge and Innovation*, *1*(1), 15–26. doi:10.1556/2059.01.2016.002

Mila, G. (2016). The consuming temple: Jews, department stores, and the consumer revolution in Germany, 1880-1940. Shofar: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Jewish Studies, 34 (3), 114–117. doi:10.1353/sho.2016.0013

Miller, E. (2016). Beyond bingo: A phenomenographic exploration of leisure in aged care. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 48(1), 35–49. Retrieved from http://js.sagamorepub.com/jlr Modak, N. M. (2017). Exploring Omni-channel supply chain under price and delivery time sensitive stochastic demand. *Supply Chain Forum: International Journal*, 18(4), 218–230. doi:10.1080/16258312.2017.1380499

Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212–1222.
doi:10.1177/1049732315588501

- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological Research Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage Publications.
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., & Green, C. A. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pantano, E. (2014). The importance of timing in retail innovation. *International Journal of Information Management*, *34*, 344–350. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.03.002
- Pantano, E., Rese, A., & Baier, D. (2017). Enhancing the online decision-making process by using augmented reality: A two country comparison of youth markets. *Journal* of Retailing and Consumer Services, 38, 81–95. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.05.011
- Parise, S., Guinan, P. J., & Kafka, R. (2016). Solving the crisis of immediacy: How digital technology can transform the customer experience. *Business Horizons*, 59, 411–420. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2016.03.004

Pascadi, M. V., & Scarlat, C. (2016). Meta strategies for career-oriented collaboration. FAIMA Business & Management Journal, 4(4), 43–48. Retrieved from http://www.faimajournal.ro/index.html

Percy, W., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in phycology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 76–85. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/index.html

Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2018). A guide to field notes for qualitative research:
Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 381–388.
doi:10.1177/1049732317697102

Picot-Coupey, K., Hure, E., & Piveteau, L. (2016). Channel design to enrich customers' shopping experiences: Synchronizing clicks with bricks in an omni-channel perspective – the Direct optic case. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 44(3), 336–368. doi:10.1108/IJRDM-04-2015-0056

Piotrowicz, W., & Cuthbertson, R. (2014). Introduction to the special issue information technology in retail: Toward omnichannel retailing. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 18(4), 5–16. doi:10.2753/JEC1086-4415180400

Poushneh, A., & Vasquez-Parraga, A. Z. (2017). Discernible impact of augmented reality on retail customer's experience, satisfaction and willingness to buy. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 34, 229–234.
doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.10.005

- Pract, B. J. G. (2014). The safety of researchers and participants in primary care qualitative research. *British Journal of General Practice*, 64, 198–200. doi:10.3399/bjgp14X679480
- Ragan, D. D. (2018). A structured course for personal and professional development. *Honors in Practice*, 14, 43–57. Retrieved from http://nchchonors.org
- Raphaeli, O., Goldstein, A., & Fink, L. (2017). Analyzing online consumer behavior in mobile and PC devices: A novel web usage mining approach. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 26, 1–12.
  doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2017.09.003
- Rapp, A., Baker, T. L., Bachrach, D. G., Ogilvie, J., & Beitelspacher, L. S. (2015).
  Perceived customer showrooming behavior and the effect on retail salesperson self-efficacy and performance. *Journal of Retailing*, *91*, 358–369.
  doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2014.12.007
- Rasul, T. (2018). Relationship marketing's important in modern corporate culture. Journal of Developing Areas, 52(1), 261–268. Retrieved from http://www.tnstate.edu/business/
- Reed, K. L. (2016). Finding more like us: Values and practices for hiring in community colleges. *Journal of Library Administration*, *56*, 83–90. doi:10.1080/01930826.2015.1113062
- Reimers, V., & Chao, F. (2014). The role of convenience in a recreational shopping trip. *European Journal of Marketing*, 48, 2213–2236. doi:10.1108/EJM-12-2012-0734

- Resnik, D. B. (2015). Bioethical issues in providing financial incentives to research participants. *Medicolegal & Bioethics*, 5, 35–41. doi:10.2147/MB.S70416
- Rodriguez-Torrico, P., Cabezudo, R. S. J., & San-Marin, S. (2017). Tell me what they are like and I will tell you where they buy. An analysis of omnichannel consumer behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 68, 465–471.
  doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.064
- Rothausen, T., Henderson, K., Arnold, J., & Malshe, A. (2017). Should I stay or should I go? Identity and well-being in sensemaking about retention and turnover. *Journal* of Management, 43, 2357–2386. doi:10.1177/0149206315569312
- Ryan, C., & Lewis, J. M. (2017). Computer and internet use in the United States: 2015. *American Community Survey Reports* (ACS Publication No. 37).
  Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2017/acs/acs-37.pdf
- Sachdeva, I., & Goel, S. (2015). Retail store environment and customer experience: A paradigm. *Journal of Fashion Marketing & Management*, 19, 290–298. doi:10.1108/jfmm-03-2015-0021
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Khoshnava Fomani, F., & Ali Cheraghi, M. (2014).
  Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics & History of Medicine*, 7(14), 1–7.
  Retrieved from http://www.tums.ac.ir/

- Sanjeev, P., Sai Vijay, T., & Parsad, C. (2016). Segmenting online shoppers: A study of consumers' web portal selection motivations for e-shopping. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 21(1), 27–46. Retrieved from http://web.usm.my/aamj/
- Saroukhanoff, R. (2017). Strategic inventory management in an omnichannel environment. *Journal of Business Forecasting*, 35(4), 37–40. Retrieved from https://ibf.org/index.cfm
- Schlechter, A., & Bussin, M. (2015). Attractiveness of non-financial rewards for prospective knowledge workers. *Employee Relations*, 37, 274–295. doi:10.1108/ER-06-2014-0077

Sears (2017). Sears archives. Retrieved from http://www.searsarchives.com/

- Showry, M., & Manasa, K. V. (2016). Attrition among the new hires: A soft skill perspective. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 10(4), 46–50. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/
- Silberman, M. L., & Auerbach, C. (1998). Active training: A handbook of techniques, designs, case examples, and tips. San Francisco, Calif: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Strandvik, T., Holmlund, M., & Edvardsson, B. (2012). Customer needing: A challenge for the seller offering. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 27(2), 132– 141. doi:10.1108/08858621211196994
- Tamimi, N., & Sebastianelli, R. (2015). The relative importance of e-tailer website attributes on the likelihood of online purchase. *Internet Research*, 25(2), 169–183. doi:10.1108/IntR-07-2013-0131

- Tan, X., Fu, F. Q., & Yi, H. (2016). Improving retail sales performance by integrating HPT with marketing strategies. *Performance Improvement*, 55, 6–13. doi:10.1002/pfi.21546
- Truman, K., Mason, R. B., & Venter, P. (2017). A model to operate an on-campus retail store for workplace experiential learning. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education*, 18, 43–57. Retrieved from http://www.apjce.org/
- Turner, T., & Shockley, J. (2014). Creating shopper value: Co-creation roles, in-store self-service technology use, and value differentiation. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 20, 311–327. doi:10.1080/10496491.2014.885480
- U.S. Census Bureau (2017). Estimated quarterly U.S. retail sales (adjusted): Total and ecommerce. Retrieved from

https://www.census.gov/retail/mrts/www/data/pdf/ec\_current.pdf

- Van de Wiel, M. W. J. (2017). Examining expertise using interview and verbal protocols. *Frontline Learning Research*, 5(3), 112–140. Retrieved from https://journals.sfu.ca/flr/flr/index.php/journal/index
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004). Evolving to a new dominant logic for marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 68, 1–17. doi:10.1509/jmkg.68.1.1.24036
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36, 1–10. doi:10.1007/s11747-007-0069-6

- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2016). Institutions and axioms: an extension and update of service-dominant logic. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 44, 5–23. doi:10.1007/s11747-015-0456-3
- Verhoef, P. C., Kannan, P. K., & Inman, J. J. (2015). From multi-channel retailing to omni-channel retailing: Introduction to the special issue on multi-channel retailing. *Journal of Retailing*, 91, 174–181. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2015.02.005
- Walsh, G., Albrecht, A. K., Kunz, W., & Hofacker, C. F. (2016). Relationship between online retailers' reputation and product returns. *British Journal of Management*, 27, 3–20. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12120
- Wang, R. J. H., Malthouse, E. C., & Krishnamurthi, L. (2015). On the go: How mobile shopping affects customer purchase behavior. *Journal of Retailing*, 91(2), 217– 234. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2015.01.002
- Xia, L. (2010). An examination of consumer browsing behaviors. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, *13*(2), 154–173.
  doi:10.1108/13522751011032593
- Yadav, M. S., & Pavlou, P. A. (2014). Marketing in computer-mediated environments: Research synthesis and new directions. *Journal of Marketing*, 78, 20–40. doi:10.1509/jm.12.0020

Interview Protocol	
What to do	What to say
Introduce the interview and define the purpose	I'm Jeff Haddox; thank you for your willingness to participate in my study. We'll use the next few minutes to go through the questions; please provide your thoughts and feel free to ask any clarifying questions.
<ul> <li>Watch for non-verbal cues.</li> <li>Paraphrase if needed.</li> <li>Ask follow-up and probing questions to provide more indepth understanding.</li> </ul>	1. Please describe the strategies that you have used to engage customers to shop at your store.
	2. How have you assessed the effectiveness of your strategies used to engaged customers?
	3. Which strategies did you find to be most successful?
	4. How did your customers respond to the different strategies that you have utilized?
	5. Please describe specific in-store experiences that your store provides that cannot be replicated in an online shopping channel?
	6. Based upon your experiences and customers' feedback, what are the sensory experiences that create the best responses from your customers?
	7. What else can you tell me about your successful customer engagement strategies?
Wrap up interview by thanking the participant.	Thank you for taking the time to share this valuable information with me today.
Schedule follow-up for member checking.	I would like to schedule a follow-up meeting to share the transcripts and summary of today's interview to ensure that I have accurately captured the information in your responses. When would be a good time for you?

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

# Appendix B: Interview Questions for Retail Store Managers

- Please describe the strategies that you have used to engage customers to shop at your store.
- 2. How have you assessed the effectiveness of your strategies used to engage customers?
- 3. Which strategies did you find to be most successful?
- 4. How did your customers respond to the different strategies that you have utilized?
- 5. Please describe specific in-store experiences that your store provides that cannot be replicated in an online shopping channel.
- 6. Based upon your experiences and customers' feedback, what are the sensory experiences that create the best responses from your customers?
- 7. What else can you tell me about your successful customer engagement strategies?

# Appendix C: Letter of Cooperation



July 30, 2018

Dear Jefferson Haddox,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled *Strategies Used by Retail Store Managers to Engage Customers* within the **Strategies** As part of this study, I authorize you to recruit store managers from a pre-approved list provided by **Strategies** collect qualitative data via in-person interviews, and conduct followup conversations as needed for member checking. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: Allowing the store manager to participate and use of the store managers office during the interviews. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I understand that the student will not be naming our organization in the doctoral project report that is published in Proquest.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.

